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DearDearDearDear    ShareholdersShareholdersShareholdersShareholders    
    
 

 

We are glad to report clear progress, both financially and operationally, towards a successful turna-

round of Santhera. After a difficult start into the year 2013, we implemented a series of restructuring 

measures and, as a result, have secured the going concern of the Company until the next development 

and regulatory milestones will be reached. In line with your mandate given to us at the last Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting, we preserved and advanced the Company’s assets and, thereby, increased their 

value in the shareholders’ best interests. Specifically, we implemented an operational restructuring 

with an emphasis on retaining our drug development skills as well as clinical and regulatory expertise. 

Combined with a financial restructuring, these efforts resulted in reduced expenses and financial obli-

gations. The equity financing instrument and the recently closed private placement will fund the con-

tinuation of Santhera’s business operations well into 2015.  

Raxone® in Leber’s Hereditary Optic Neuropathy is our product opportunity closest to the market. During 

the last year, we collected additional efficacy data from an Expanded Access Program in the treatment 

of patients as well as extensive natural history data for comparison. Based on this convincing set of 

data, Raxone® was recently granted a temporary authorization for use in France, allowing LHON pa-

tients to receive reimbursed treatment with our drug. This additional clinical evidence of efficacy sup-

ports our Marketing Authorization Application, which will be filed shortly with the European Medicines 

Agency. We expect their decision in the first half of 2015.  

Over the last 15 months, we also advanced the development of our two follow-on programs. The DELOS 

study in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy is on track to deliver pivotal data for steroid-non user patients 

in the upcoming weeks. In fall 2013, we regained European rights to the program, which is protected 

by patents and orphan drug designations, offering now the opportunity for a global partnership.  

Finally in primary progressive Multiple Sclerosis, we continue the phase II study with the US National 

Institutes of Health. In addition, we extended this collaboration and secured an exclusive license to a 

granted US patent for this indication. 

In 2013, we diligently evaluated strategic alternatives and opted to continue independently as currently 

the best strategic alternative for Santhera and its shareholders. With the completion of restructuring 

measures, we have secured additional funding to allow business continuation. Diligent management 

of our funds and operations will enable us to reach the next regulatory and clinical milestones as an 

independent company. This promising outlook is a major achievement by everyone at Santhera. We 

thank our employees for their commitment and engagement and you, as our shareholders, for your 

continued support and trust.  

 

 

 

Martin Gertsch Thomas Meier 

Chairman Chief Executive Officer 
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Raxone® can prevent 
from vision loss and 
restore vision in 
blind patients 

Orphan drugs meet a 
high medical need 
and offer interesting 
opportunities 

Santhera’s LateSanthera’s LateSanthera’s LateSanthera’s Late----stage Pipeline Focuses onstage Pipeline Focuses onstage Pipeline Focuses onstage Pipeline Focuses on    
RaxoneRaxoneRaxoneRaxone®®®®////CatenaCatenaCatenaCatena®®®®    in Three Orphan Indicationsin Three Orphan Indicationsin Three Orphan Indicationsin Three Orphan Indications    

 

 

 

Santhera focuses on rare diseases, areas of high unmet medical need which include many indications 

with no current therapies. Traditionally, these diseases have been neglected by research and public 

health interest. As a result, competition is scarce, if any, offering opportunities for dedicated develop-

ment programs. Regulators worldwide grant incentives such as 

market exclusivity to spur drug development for orphan diseases. 

Santhera develops and commercializes innovative pharmaceutical 

products for the treatment of mitochondrial and neuromuscular 

diseases. All programs enjoy patent protection or orphan drug sta-

tus in North America and in Europe. Currently, Santhera concen-

trates all efforts on Raxone®/Catena® (INN: idebenone) for which the full clinical and commercial po-

tential are explored in multiple orphan indications. Idebenone has a dual mode of action: It enhances 

mitochondrial function and acts as a cell-protecting antioxidant. Raxone® and Catena® are trademarks 

for Santhera’s proprietary idebenone 150 mg tablets for use in Europe and North America, respectively. 

RaxoneRaxoneRaxoneRaxone®®®®    as as as as the the the the first treatment option for LHONfirst treatment option for LHONfirst treatment option for LHONfirst treatment option for LHON    

Leber’s Hereditary Optic Neuropathy (LHONLHONLHONLHON) is a genetic eye-disease causing rapid blindness. The dis-

order typically presents in young men as painless loss of central vision in one eye, followed by visual 

loss in the fellow eye within a few months of the onset of symptoms. Over 95% of patients harbor one 

of three pathogenic mutations of the mitochondrial DNA which cause a defect in the complex I subunit 

of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. This defect leads to decreased cellular energy production, in-

creased oxidative stress and retinal ganglion cell dysfunction, which cause progressive loss of visual 

acuity and blindness.  

Efficacy data from the placebo-controlled RHODOSRHODOSRHODOSRHODOS trial as well as 

supportive efficacy data collected from Santhera’s ongoing Expanded 

Access Program show that Raxone® can prevent from further vision 

loss in patients with residual vision and can restore vision in blind 

patients. Santhera will submit a marketing authorization application 

for Raxone® in the European Union early in the second quarter of 

2014. In France, a temporary authorization for use granted in January 2014 allows Santhera to provide 

Raxone® to LHON patients before such a European marketing authorization is granted. 
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Catena®/Raxone® may 
stabilize or improve 
respiratory functions 
in Duchenne patients 

The pharmacological 
properties make 
idebenone a treat-
ment of choice 

Phase III dPhase III dPhase III dPhase III data for Catenaata for Catenaata for Catenaata for Catena®®®®/Raxone/Raxone/Raxone/Raxone®®®®    in DMD in DMD in DMD in DMD ddddue in ue in ue in ue in ffffirst irst irst irst hhhhalf 2014alf 2014alf 2014alf 2014    

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMDDMDDMDDMD) is one of the most common and devastating types of muscle loss. 

The inherited disease is characterized by a complete loss of dystrophin leading to cell damage, im-

paired calcium homeostasis, elevated oxidative stress and reduced 

energy production in muscle cells. The absence of the protein re-

sults in rapidly progressing muscle wasting and early morbidity due 

to respiratory failure.  

Clinical data from a placebo-controlled phase II trial (DELPHI) 

showed that respiratory function in Duchenne patients treated with Catena®/Raxone® may stabilize or 

improve. To confirm these findings, Santhera is conducting a phase III trial (DELOSDELOSDELOSDELOS) in ambulatory and 

non-ambulatory patients with DMD of any mutational etiology. The results for non-steroid-using par-

ticipants are expected in the second quarter of 2014. 

Santhera collaborates with the NIH to iSanthera collaborates with the NIH to iSanthera collaborates with the NIH to iSanthera collaborates with the NIH to investigate Catenanvestigate Catenanvestigate Catenanvestigate Catena®®®®/Raxone/Raxone/Raxone/Raxone®®®®    in ppMSin ppMSin ppMSin ppMS    

Primary-progressive Multiple Sclerosis (ppMSppMSppMSppMS) is a subtype of MS in which patients suffer from a slow 

but steady functional decline without any distinct episodes of regeneration or acute relapses that 

characterize more common forms of MS. Mitochondrial dysfunction and aberrant formation of reactive 

oxygen species underlie the development of progressive tissue destruction in ppMS.  

Given its pharmacological properties, idebenone is considered a 

treatment of choice for this disease. Supported by Santhera, the US 

National Institutes of Health are investigating the efficacy of Catena® in 

a phase II clinical trial in patients with ppMS (IPPoMSIPPoMSIPPoMSIPPoMS). Santhera has 

recently obtained the exclusive rights to a patent granted in the USA 

and pending in Europe. 

OmigapilOmigapilOmigapilOmigapil, Santhera’s s, Santhera’s s, Santhera’s s, Santhera’s second econd econd econd ccccompound, ompound, ompound, ompound, tttto o o o bbbbe e e e tested tested tested tested in CMDin CMDin CMDin CMD    

Congenital Muscular Dystrophies (CMDCMDCMDCMD) are a group of inherited neuromuscular diseases characterized 

by different forms of progressive loss of muscle tissue. Patients suffer from reduced body weight, 

skeletal deformations and respiratory distress resulting in immobility and early mortality. Severe forms 

can affect newborns or young children with life-threatening muscle weakness. 

Nonclinical studies indicate that omigapil inhibits cell death and reduces body weight loss and skeletal 

deformation while increasing locomotor activity and protecting from early mortality. Santhera and the 

US National Institutes of Health supported by US and European patient organizations are preparing for 

a clinical trial to investigate the safety, tolerability and the pharmacokinetic profile of a new liquid 

formulation of omigapil in pediatric and adolescent patients. 
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Management Discussion and AnalysisManagement Discussion and AnalysisManagement Discussion and AnalysisManagement Discussion and Analysis    
    

    

    

    

The The The The financial results financial results financial results financial results for 2013 highlight for 2013 highlight for 2013 highlight for 2013 highlight marked reductions in cash burn and liabilitiesmarked reductions in cash burn and liabilitiesmarked reductions in cash burn and liabilitiesmarked reductions in cash burn and liabilities. . . . The cash The cash The cash The cash 

position at year end amounted to CHFposition at year end amounted to CHFposition at year end amounted to CHFposition at year end amounted to CHF    5.0 million.5.0 million.5.0 million.5.0 million.    The operating result improved to CHF The operating result improved to CHF The operating result improved to CHF The operating result improved to CHF ––––7.3 mi7.3 mi7.3 mi7.3 mil-l-l-l-

lion and the net result to CHFlion and the net result to CHFlion and the net result to CHFlion and the net result to CHF    ––––5.8 million. The Company5.8 million. The Company5.8 million. The Company5.8 million. The Company’’’’s financial situation has been strengts financial situation has been strengts financial situation has been strengts financial situation has been strength-h-h-h-

ened by a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement (SEDA) for up to CHFened by a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement (SEDA) for up to CHFened by a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement (SEDA) for up to CHFened by a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement (SEDA) for up to CHF    10 million signed with 10 million signed with 10 million signed with 10 million signed with 

YAYAYAYA    Global Master SPV LGlobal Master SPV LGlobal Master SPV LGlobal Master SPV Ltd. (YA Global) and a recent private placement of CHFtd. (YA Global) and a recent private placement of CHFtd. (YA Global) and a recent private placement of CHFtd. (YA Global) and a recent private placement of CHF    1 million with new 1 million with new 1 million with new 1 million with new 

investor IGLU Group. At the end of the first quarter 2014, Santhera had cash reserves of CHFinvestor IGLU Group. At the end of the first quarter 2014, Santhera had cash reserves of CHFinvestor IGLU Group. At the end of the first quarter 2014, Santhera had cash reserves of CHFinvestor IGLU Group. At the end of the first quarter 2014, Santhera had cash reserves of CHF    5.3 5.3 5.3 5.3 

million slightly above yearmillion slightly above yearmillion slightly above yearmillion slightly above year----end 2013.end 2013.end 2013.end 2013.    

Key achievements for the past 15 monthsKey achievements for the past 15 monthsKey achievements for the past 15 monthsKey achievements for the past 15 months::::    

• Successful operational and financial restructuring resulting in reduced cash burn and liabilities 

• Supportive efficacy data for Raxone® in Leber’s Hereditary Optic Neuropathy (LHONLHONLHONLHON)  

• Preparation of Marketing Authorization Application (MAAMAAMAAMAA) for Raxone® in LHON to be filed shortly 

with the European Medicines Agency (EMAEMAEMAEMA) 

• Temporary authorization for use (autorisation temporaire d’utilisation dite de cohorte) for  

Raxone® in LHON granted by the French National Agency for the Safety of Medicines and Health 

Products (ANSMANSMANSMANSM) 

• Successful futility analysis of the phase III DELOS trial with Raxone®/Catena® in Duchenne Muscular 

Dystrophy (DMDDMDDMDDMD) 

• Agreement for exclusive patent license signed with US National Institutes of Health (NIHNIHNIHNIH) for  

Catena®/Raxone® in the treatment of primary progressive Multiple Sclerosis (ppMSppMSppMSppMS) 

• US patent granted protecting the use of the oromucosal administration route for fipamezole in the 

field of neurodegenerative diseases 

• Financing of operations and going concern secured by a SEDA for a maximum of CHF 10 million 

with YA Global and a private placement of CHF 1 million with new investor IGLU Group 

CHFCHFCHFCHF    5.0 million cash at year5.0 million cash at year5.0 million cash at year5.0 million cash at year----end 2013 and significant reduction in net cash burn end 2013 and significant reduction in net cash burn end 2013 and significant reduction in net cash burn end 2013 and significant reduction in net cash burn  

As of December 31, 2013, Santhera had cash and cash equivalents of CHF 5.0 million (2012: CHF 12.3 mil-

lion). Net change in cash was CHF –7.2 million (2012: CHF –11.1 million) driven by a reduction in average 

monthly net cash burn from CHF 0.7 million in the first quarter to CHF 0.3 million in the fourth quarter 

of 2013 as a result of rigorous cost control and use of the SEDA. Operational and financial restructuring 

measures reduced current and non-current liabilities from CHF 6.9 million to CHF 2.6 million. Total 

equity at year-end 2013 was CHF 7.1 million (2012: CHF 11.4 million).  
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Revenues from product salesRevenues from product salesRevenues from product salesRevenues from product sales    

In 2013, Catena® generated net sales of CHF 1.3 million (2012: CHF 3.5 million) primarily in Canada in the 

indication Friedreich’s Ataxia. Sales from the Named Patient Program increased to TCHF 467 (2012: 

TCHF 352). In line with the sharp reduction in operating expenses (CHF 8.7 million in 2013 vs. CHF 34.7 

million in 2012), the operating result improved to CHF –7.3 million (2012: CHF –31.2 million including 

substantial impairments on intangibles and the write-down of inventories). Expenses in Development 

were CHF 4.7 million (2012: CHF 28.7 million). Marketing and sales expenses were halved to CHF 0.9 

million (2012: CHF 1.8 million) while expenses for general and administrative were reduced to CHF 3.1 

million (2012: CHF 4.1 million). As a result, Santhera reduced the net loss to CHF 5.8 million in 2013 (2012: 

CHF 31.4 million).  

OutlookOutlookOutlookOutlook    

In the coming weeks, the MAA for Raxone® for the treatment LHON will be filed with the EMA whose 

decision is expected in the first half of 2015. Meanwhile Raxone® is made available to LHON patients in 

France under the cohort ATU granted by the ANSM in January 2014, allowing Santhera to generate prod-

uct sales. In the second quarter of 2014, pivotal data of the DELOS phase III study with Catena®/Raxone®
 

in DMD will become available from the cohort of patients not using steroids. The results will clarify the 

development and regulatory path forward for this program. In ppMS, Santhera continues its collabora-

tion with the NIH in a randomized, placebo-controlled phase II trial (IPPoMS) with Catena®/Raxone® 

followed by a 12-months open-label extension study. 

Santhera closed the first quarter 2014 with cash of CHF 5.3 million, slightly above year-end 2013 reflect-

ing inflows of funds from the SEDA and a private placement with IGLU Group in February 2014.  

Despite the SEDA and the recent capital increase, Santhera’s ability to continue business operations 

into 2015 and beyond remains contingent on the availability of additional financial resources. The 

Board of Directors and Management of Santhera therefore continue their efforts to secure adequate 

financing, including through further use of the SEDA, and to explore M&A opportunities and/or sale or 

licensing of assets.  
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Consolidated Financial StatementsConsolidated Financial StatementsConsolidated Financial StatementsConsolidated Financial Statements    
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Consolidated Balance SheetConsolidated Balance SheetConsolidated Balance SheetConsolidated Balance Sheet    

 

In CHF thousands    Notes 31.12.201331.12.201331.12.201331.12.2013    31.12.2012 1.1.2012 

      Restated1 Restated1 

AssetsAssetsAssetsAssets     

Tangible assets 5 39 81 171 

Intangible assets 6 4,225 4,714 24,856 

Financial assets long-term 10 85 362 361 

Deferred tax assets 13 0 0 139 

Noncurrent assetsNoncurrent assetsNoncurrent assetsNoncurrent assets        4,3494,3494,3494,349    5,1575,1575,1575,157    25,52725,52725,52725,527    

     

Prepaid expenses and accrued income  301 179 117 

Inventories 8 0 27 2,391 

Trade and other receivables    9 42 639 593 

Cash and cash equivalents 11 5,044 12,283 23,406 

Current assetsCurrent assetsCurrent assetsCurrent assets        5,3875,3875,3875,387    13,12813,12813,12813,128    26,50726,50726,50726,507    

                    

Total assetsTotal assetsTotal assetsTotal assets        9,7369,7369,7369,736    18,28518,28518,28518,285    52,03452,03452,03452,034    

        

        

Equity and liabilitiesEquity and liabilitiesEquity and liabilitiesEquity and liabilities     

Share capital  12 3,934 3,677 3,673 

Capital reserves and share premium  274,896 274,441 274,012 

Retained earnings  –265,304 –259,550 –228,104 

Employee benefit reserve 24 405 –368 –525 

Treasury shares 12 –221 –177 –177 

Other components of equity     –6,604 –6,658 –6,420 

Total equityTotal equityTotal equityTotal equity     7,1067,1067,1067,106    11,11,11,11,365365365365    42,45942,45942,45942,459    

        

Long-term finance lease liabilities 10 0 2,171 2,207 

Pension liabilities    17, 24 997 1,821 1,710 

Total noncurrent liabilitiesTotal noncurrent liabilitiesTotal noncurrent liabilitiesTotal noncurrent liabilities     997997997997    3,9923,9923,9923,992    3,9173,9173,9173,917    

        

Trade and other payables    14 597 674 876 

Short-term finance lease liabilities    10 0 36 34 

Accrued expenses    15 1,036 2,218 4,514 

Short-term provisions 16 0 0 234 

Total current liabilitiesTotal current liabilitiesTotal current liabilitiesTotal current liabilities  1,6331,6331,6331,633    2,9282,9282,9282,928    5,5685,5685,5685,568    

Total liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilities  2,6302,6302,6302,630    6,9206,9206,9206,920    9,5759,5759,5759,575    

        

Total equityTotal equityTotal equityTotal equity    and liabilitiesand liabilitiesand liabilitiesand liabilities     9,7369,7369,7369,736    18,28518,28518,28518,285    52,03452,03452,03452,034    

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 ”Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 
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Consolidated Income StatementConsolidated Income StatementConsolidated Income StatementConsolidated Income Statement    

    

For the year ended December 31, in CHF thousands Notes 2013201320132013    2012 

   Restated1 

Net sales 20, 21 1,319 3,538 

RevenueRevenueRevenueRevenue        1,3191,3191,3191,319    3,5383,5383,5383,538    

    

Cost of goods sold 21 –140 –349 

Gross profitGross profitGross profitGross profit        1,1791,1791,1791,179    3,1893,1893,1893,189    

       

Other operating income 22 256 357 

                

Development 23 –4,709 –28,722 

Marketing and sales 23 –926 –1,841 

General and administrative 23 –3,109 –4,079 

Other operating expenses 23 0 –56 

Operating expensesOperating expensesOperating expensesOperating expenses    23232323    ––––8,7448,7448,7448,744    ––––34,69834,69834,69834,698    

    

Operating resultOperating resultOperating resultOperating result        ––––7,3097,3097,3097,309    ––––31,15231,15231,15231,152    

                

Financial income 25 1,731 422 

Financial expenses 25 –182 –558 

    

Result before taxesResult before taxesResult before taxesResult before taxes     ––––5,7605,7605,7605,760    ––––31,28831,28831,28831,288    

Income taxes 27 5 –157 

Net resultNet resultNet resultNet result        ––––5,7555,7555,7555,755    ––––31,44531,44531,44531,445    

             

Basic and diluted loss per share (in CHF)Basic and diluted loss per share (in CHF)Basic and diluted loss per share (in CHF)Basic and diluted loss per share (in CHF)     ––––1.551.551.551.55    ––––8.558.558.558.55    

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive IncomeConsolidated Statement of Comprehensive IncomeConsolidated Statement of Comprehensive IncomeConsolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income    

    

For the year ended December 31, in CHF thousands Notes 2013201320132013    2012 

            Restated1 

Net resultNet resultNet resultNet result        ––––5,7555,7555,7555,755    ––––31,44531,44531,44531,445    

Items never to be reclassified subsequently to net 
income in subsequent periods: 

   

     Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans 17, 24 773 157 

Items to be reclassified subsequently to net income 
in subsequent periods: 

   

     Currency translation differences 26 55 –239 

Other comprehensive resultOther comprehensive resultOther comprehensive resultOther comprehensive result        828828828828    ––––82828282    

Total comprehensive resultTotal comprehensive resultTotal comprehensive resultTotal comprehensive result        ––––4,9274,9274,9274,927    ––––31,52731,52731,52731,527    

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 
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Consolidated Cash Flow StatementConsolidated Cash Flow StatementConsolidated Cash Flow StatementConsolidated Cash Flow Statement    

    

For the year ended December 31, in CHF thousands Notes 2013201320132013    2012 

      Restated1 

Result before taxes  ––––5,7605,7605,7605,760    ––––31,28831,28831,28831,288 

Depreciation of tangible assets 5 47 107 

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 6 551 19,965 

Expenses for share options 19, 23 290 429 

Change in pension liabilities 17, 24 –51 268 

Change in short-term provisions 16 0 –234 

Change in deferred tax assets 13 0 139 

Taxes paid  –6 –18 

Change in net working capital  –482 –468 

Total financial result 10, 25 –1,549 136 

Interest received 25 5 50 

Interest paid 25 –21 –125 

Cash flow from operating activitiesCash flow from operating activitiesCash flow from operating activitiesCash flow from operating activities        ––––6,9766,9766,9766,976    ––––11,03911,03911,03911,039    

    

Investments in tangible assets 5 –4 –18 

Investments in intangible assets 6 0 –14 

Proceeds from / investment in other financial assets 10 276 –1 

Cash flow from investing activitiesCash flow from investing activitiesCash flow from investing activitiesCash flow from investing activities        272272272272    ----33333333    

    

Capital increases from options exercised 12 12 4 

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares SEDA2 12 416 0 

Cost of issuance of share capital  –50 0 

Amortization of finance lease  –9 –36 

Settlement of finance lease liabilities 10 –900 0 

Cash flow from financing activitiesCash flow from financing activitiesCash flow from financing activitiesCash flow from financing activities        ––––531531531531    ––––32323232    

    

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents 

 –4 –19 

Net increase / (decrease) Net increase / (decrease) Net increase / (decrease) Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equiin cash and cash equiin cash and cash equiin cash and cash equiv-v-v-v-
alentsalentsalentsalents    

    ––––7,2397,2397,2397,239    ––––11,12311,12311,12311,123    

    

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1  12,283 23,406 

Cash and cash equivalents at DecemberCash and cash equivalents at DecemberCash and cash equivalents at DecemberCash and cash equivalents at December    31313131        5,0445,0445,0445,044    12,28312,28312,28312,283    

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 

2 Standby Equity Distribution Agreement, see note 12 “Share Capital”. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in EquityConsolidated Statement of Changes in EquityConsolidated Statement of Changes in EquityConsolidated Statement of Changes in Equity    

    

In CHF thousands Notes 

Share 

capital 

Capital 

reserves 

and 

share 

premi-

um 

Retained 

earnings 

Em-

ployee 

benefit 

reserve 

Treas-

ury 

shares  

Trans-

lation 

differ-

ences TotalTotalTotalTotal    

Balance at Balance at Balance at Balance at January January January January 1, 2011, 2011, 2011, 2012 (reported)2 (reported)2 (reported)2 (reported)        3,6733,6733,6733,673    274,012274,012274,012274,012    ––––228,104228,104228,104228,104    0000    ––––177177177177    ––––6,4206,4206,4206,420    42,98442,98442,98442,984    

Restatement due to change in ac-

counting policies (IAS 19R) 
17 0 0 0 –525 0 0 ––––525525525525    

Balance at JanuaryBalance at JanuaryBalance at JanuaryBalance at January    1, 2012 (1, 2012 (1, 2012 (1, 2012 (rrrrestatedestatedestatedestated 1111))))        3,6733,6733,6733,673    274,012274,012274,012274,012    ––––228,104228,104228,104228,104    ––––525525525525    ––––177177177177    ––––6,4206,4206,4206,420    42,45942,45942,45942,459    

            

Net result  0 0 –31,445  0 0 ––––31,44531,44531,44531,445    

Other comprehensive result 24, 26 0 0 0 157 0 –239 ––––82828282    

Total comprehensive result for Total comprehensive result for Total comprehensive result for Total comprehensive result for     

the periodthe periodthe periodthe period        0000    0000    ––––31,44531,44531,44531,445    157157157157    0000    ––––239239239239    ––––31,31,31,31,525252527777    

            

Share-based payment transactions 19 0 429 0  0 0 429429429429    

Capital increase from options exercise 12 4 0 0  0 0 4444    

Balance at DecemberBalance at DecemberBalance at DecemberBalance at December    31, 201231, 201231, 201231, 2012        3,6773,6773,6773,677    274,441274,441274,441274,441    ––––259,549259,549259,549259,549    ––––368368368368    ––––177177177177    ––––6,6596,6596,6596,659    11,36511,36511,36511,365    

         

         

Balance at JanuaryBalance at JanuaryBalance at JanuaryBalance at January    1, 20131, 20131, 20131, 2013        3,6773,6773,6773,677    274,441274,441274,441274,441    ––––259,549259,549259,549259,549    ––––368368368368    ––––177177177177    ––––6,6596,6596,6596,659    11,36511,36511,36511,365    

            

Net result  0 0 –5,755  0 0 –5,7555,7555,7555,755    

Other comprehensive result 24, 26 0 0 0 773 0 55 828828828828    

Total comprehensive result for Total comprehensive result for Total comprehensive result for Total comprehensive result for     

the periodthe periodthe periodthe period        0000    0000    ––––5555,,,,777755555555    773773773773    0000    55555555    ––––4444,,,,999927272727    

            

Share-based payment transactions 19 0 290 0 0 0 0 290290290290    

Capital increase from options exercise 12 12 0 0 0 0 0 12121212    

Capital increase SEDA2 12 160 300 0 0 –44 0 416416416416    

Commitment fee SEDA2 12 85 –85 0 0 0 0 0000    

Cost of issuance of share capital  0 –50 0 0 0 0 ––––50505050    

Balance at DecemberBalance at DecemberBalance at DecemberBalance at December    31, 201331, 201331, 201331, 2013        3,9343,9343,9343,934    274,896274,896274,896274,896    ––––265,265,265,265,333304040404    405405405405    ––––221221221221    ––––6,6046,6046,6046,604    7,1067,1067,1067,106    

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 

2 Standby Equity Distribution Agreement, see note 12 “Share Capital”. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsNotes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsNotes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements    

    

 

 

 

1111 General InformationGeneral InformationGeneral InformationGeneral Information    

Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG (the CompanyCompanyCompanyCompany, together with its subsidiaries SantheraSantheraSantheraSanthera or 

GroupGroupGroupGroup) is a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of 

products for the treatment of mitochondrial and neuromuscular diseases, an area which includes 

many orphan and niche indications with no current therapy. 

The Company, having its primary listing of its registered shares (SharesSharesSharesShares) on the SIX Swiss Exchange 

(SIXSIXSIXSIX), is a Swiss stock corporation and the parent company of the Group. Its purpose is to acquire, 

dispose and manage investments. The Company has its registered offices at Hammerstrasse 49 in 4410 

Liestal, Switzerland. 

The consolidated financial statements were approved for publication by the Board of Directors (BoarBoarBoarBoardddd) 

on April 7, 2014. They are subject to approval by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting (ASMASMASMASM) on May 20, 

2014. 

2222 Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesSummary of Significant Accounting PoliciesSummary of Significant Accounting PoliciesSummary of Significant Accounting Policies    

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 

stated. 

Basis of preparationBasis of preparationBasis of preparationBasis of preparation    

The consolidated financial statements of Santhera have been prepared in accordance with Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSIFRSIFRSIFRS).  

The consolidated financial statements are based on the financial statements of the individual  

Santhera companies prepared for the same reporting period using consistent accounting policies. The 

consolidated financial statements are prepared using the historical cost convention except for the 

revaluation to fair value of certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

The presentation currency is Swiss francs (CHFCHFCHFCHF). All figures included in these financial statements and 

notes to the financial statements are rounded to the nearest CHF 1,000 except where otherwise indi-

cated. 
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Material uncertainties and ability to continue operationsMaterial uncertainties and ability to continue operationsMaterial uncertainties and ability to continue operationsMaterial uncertainties and ability to continue operations    

Material uncertainty remains as to whether Santhera’s current funding is sufficient to support its go-

ing concern for another twelve months which creates significant doubts about its ability to continue 

as a going concern. Therefore the Company depends on further financing to ensure the continuation 

of its operations and to execute its strategy as outlined below. 

In May 2013, the ASM supported the business continuation of Santhera as well as the evaluation of all 

strategic options. This vote was a mandate by the Shareholders to the Board and the Executive Man-

agement to continue to seek marketing approval from the European Medicines Agency’s (EMAEMAEMAEMA) for 

Raxone® in the treatment of Leber’s Hereditary Optic Neuropathy (LHONLHONLHONLHON), to continue ongoing devel-

opment activities in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMDDMDDMDDMD) and primary progressive Multiple Sclerosis 

(ppMSppMSppMSppMS) and to preserve the Company’s assets. 

During 2013, Santhera collected additional supportive clinical data which will be used in the prepara-

tion of a new Marketing Authorization Application (MAAMAAMAAMAA) in LHON. The application dossier will be sub-

mitted shortly to the EMA. Additionally, several operational and financial restructuring measures were 

implemented in order to reduce expenses and liabilities and to extend the cash reach. In October 

2013, Santhera entered into a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement (SEDASEDASEDASEDA) for up to CHF 10 million 

with Yorkville Advisors Global Master SPV Ltd., New York, United States of America (YA GlobalYA GlobalYA GlobalYA Global), which 

allows the Company to receive additional cash from the issue of Shares from its conditional capital. In 

January 2014, the French National Agency for the Safety of Medicines and Health Products (ANSMANSMANSMANSM) 

granted an Autorisation temporaire d'utilisation dite de cohorte (cohort ATUcohort ATUcohort ATUcohort ATU), for Raxone® in the 

treatment of LHON. This temporary authorization allows Santhera to sell Raxone® to hospitals in 

France and generate first sales with the product. Finally in February 2014, Santhera raised CHF 1 mil-

lion in a private placement with IGLU Group, Zug, Switzerland. 

The ability to continue business operations until the EMA reaches a decision on the MAA filing for Rax-

one® is contingent on the availability of sufficient financial resources. The Board and Management 

continues to seek for possibilities to secure additional financing including through the continued use 

of the SEDA as well as by exploring M&A opportunities and sale and/or licensing of assets. Sharehold-

ers should note that whilst the Board and Management continue to apply best efforts to evaluate 

available options, there can be no guarantee that any transaction can be realized or that such trans-

action would generate sufficient funds to finance further operations. 

The availability of sufficient funds is decisive for Santhera and its ability to continue operations. Un-

der the above described circumstances, the Board believes in the Company’s chances to be able to 

meet all of its obligations for a further 12 months. Hence, the consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared on a going concern basis. 

ConsolidationConsolidationConsolidationConsolidation    

Subsidiaries in which the Company has a direct or indirect controlling interest are consolidated. Con-

trol exists when the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its investment with the 

investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Control is 

normally evidenced when the Company owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the vot-

ing rights or potential voting rights of a company’s share capital that are currently exercisable. 
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The consolidated financial statements of Santhera include the accounts of Santhera Pharmaceuticals 

Holding AG, Liestal, Switzerland, and its wholly owned subsidiaries Santhera Pharmaceuticals 

(Schweiz) AG, Liestal, Switzerland; Santhera Pharmaceuticals (USA), Inc., Charlestown, US; Santhera 

Pharmaceuticals (Canada), Inc., Montréal, Canada; Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Deutschland) GmbH, 

Lörrach, Germany; and Oy Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Finland) Ltd, Helsinki, Finland. 

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Company. The 

consideration transferred is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued 

and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair value 

at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any noncontrolling interest. The excess of the 

consideration transferred over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets ac-

quired is recorded as goodwill. If the consideration transferred is less than the fair value of the net 

assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the income statement. 

The consolidation commences from the date on which control is transferred to the Company, and 

subsidiaries are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. Intercompany balances and 

transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Intercompany transactions solely result from 

providing services, financing and selling goods to other Group companies. 

The Group had no business combinations in the periods reported. 

Changes in accounting policiesChanges in accounting policiesChanges in accounting policiesChanges in accounting policies    

The adopted accounting policies are consistent with the previous year except for those described be-

low. 

Various standards and interpretations of IFRS have been revised or were introduced with effective 

date January 1, 2013, or before: 

IFRS 7 Amendment – Disclosures: -Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. Effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2013. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2013. 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. Effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2013. 

IFRS 10, 11, 12 Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of Inter-

ests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance. Effective for annual periods begin-

ning on or after January 1, 2013. 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after Jan-

uary 1, 2013. 

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine. Effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
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IAS 1 Amendment – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. Effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. 

IAS 19 (Revised) Employee Benefits. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2013. 

IAS 19 Revised (IAS 19RIAS 19RIAS 19RIAS 19R) led to the restatement of prior periods. The main im-

pacts of the adoption of IAS 19R on Santhera’s financial reporting are as follows: 

- Elimination of the corridor approach: It is no longer possible to defer recog-

nition of actuarial gains and losses using the corridor approach. They must 

be recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. 

– Calculation of pension costs: The previous practice of recognizing the ex-

pected return on plan assets and of calculating the interest expense on the 

defined benefit obligation is replaced by the recognition of net interest on 

the net defined benefit liability or the net defined benefit asset. 

– Past service costs are recognized immediately through the income statement 

when they occur. 

– Risk sharing: The new provision on sharing risk between the employees and 

employer has impacts on the defined benefit liability and the allocation of 

service costs. 

IAS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements. Effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2013. 

IAS 28 (Revised) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. Effective for annual periods be-

ginning on or after January 1, 2013. 

The IASB has issued a number of amendments to existing standards as well as new standards and 

interpretations which will become effective in future periods. The most important changes relate to 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Santhera will assess the impact of this standard once it has been pub-

lished in its entirety and the IASB has set a mandatory effective date. None of the other amendments 

is currently expected to have a material impact on Santhera’s accounting policies or financial perfor-

mance but may lead to additional disclosures.  

Segment reportingSegment reportingSegment reportingSegment reporting    

Santhera has one operating segment, namely the development and commercialization of products for 

the treatment of mitochondrial and neuromuscular diseases. The Board, the Executive Management 

and senior managers, being the Chief Operating Decision Makers (CODMCODMCODMCODM), assess the reporting data 

and allocate resources as one segment on an aggregated consolidated level according to operating 

expenses by function. Santhera generates revenue from sales of Raxone® and Catena® (for the treat-

ment of LHON, DMD and Friedreich’s Ataxia (FAFAFAFA)). Geographic revenue information is based on location 

of the customer or licensee. 
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Foreign currency translationsForeign currency translationsForeign currency translationsForeign currency translations    

The consolidated financial statements are presented in CHF. The functional currency of each Santhera 

company is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the local entity operates. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the rates prevailing at the dates of the trans-

action. Translation differences from financial transactions are included in the financial result. 

Gains and losses resulting from the translation of foreign currency transactions and from the adjust-

ment of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date are recognized in the 

income statement. 

Assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated into CHF using the balance-sheet exchange 

rates at year-end. Income and expenses are translated into CHF at average exchange rates. The ex-

change differences arising on the retranslation are accounted for in other comprehensive in-

come/equity. 

Intangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assetsIntangible assets    

Patents, licenses, trademarks and other intangible assets are capitalized as intangible assets when it 

is probable that future economic benefits will be generated. Such assets are in general amortized on 

a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Estimated useful life is the lower of legal duration and 

economic useful life. The estimated useful life of the intangible assets is regularly reviewed and if 

necessary the future amortization charge is accelerated. For pharmaceutical products, the estimated 

useful life normally corresponds to the remaining lifetime of their patent or orphan drug protection 

(up to 20 years). 

PatentsPatentsPatentsPatents    

Patents not yet available for use are not amortized, but tested for impairment annually. Once useful 

life can be determined, amortization starts on a straight-line basis (2 to 20 years). 

IT softwareIT softwareIT softwareIT software    

Acquired IT software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and imple-

ment the specific software. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives (2 to 5 years). 

Tangible assetsTangible assetsTangible assetsTangible assets    

Tangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Deprecia-

tion is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset or the shorter 

lease term, as follows: 

 Useful life 

Equipment 4 to 10 years 

IT hardware 2 to 5 years 
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Impairment of assetsImpairment of assetsImpairment of assetsImpairment of assets    

Assets include intangible assets not yet available for use, intangible assets with finite useful lives and 

tangible assets. In general and in accordance with the terms of IFRS, assets not in use are capitalized 

at cost in the balance sheet and reviewed for impairment at least annually. This impairment test is 

performed at the same time every year or upon any reporting date if deemed necessary. A change to 

finite useful life is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate for the respective asset. Test-

ing for indicators of impairment is done at the end of each reporting period. 

Trade and other receivablesTrade and other receivablesTrade and other receivablesTrade and other receivables    

Receivables which generally have 30 days payment terms are stated at their nominal value less an 

allowance for any uncollectible amount if required. An allowance for doubtful debts is made when 

collection of the full amount is no longer probable. 

InventoriesInventoriesInventoriesInventories    

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value using the weighted average cost 

formula. 

Financial assetsFinancial assetsFinancial assetsFinancial assets    

Generally, Santhera classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

This category has two subcategories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at fair 

value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. A financial asset is classified in this category if 

acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the shortterm. Derivatives are also categorized as 

held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current 

assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realized within 12 months of the report-

ing date. Valuation is at fair value through profit and loss. Financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from 

changes in the fair value are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. They arise when Santhera provides money, goods or services di-

rectly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. They are included in current assets, 

except for maturities longer than 12 months after the balance-sheet date. These are classified as non-

current assets. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date. This is the date on which 

Santhera commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value 

plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 

assets are de-recognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired 

or have been transferred and Santhera has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of owner-

ship.  
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LeasesLeasesLeasesLeases    

Leases of assets under which Santhera essentially assumes all the rewards and risks of ownership are 

classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized as assets and liabilities at the commence-

ment of the lease at the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, at the present value of the mini-

mum lease payments. The assets acquired under these contracts are depreciated over the shorter of 

the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. 

Leases of assets under which the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor 

are classified as operating leases, and payments made are charged to the income statement on a 

straight-line basis. 

CCCCash and cash equivalentsash and cash equivalentsash and cash equivalentsash and cash equivalents    

This item includes cash on hand and at banks, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

Share capitalShare capitalShare capitalShare capital    

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 

common shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Financial liabilitiesFinancial liabilitiesFinancial liabilitiesFinancial liabilities    

Santhera classifies its financial liabilities into two categories: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 

This category includes derivatives with negative replacement values. They are initially recognized at 

their fair value. Any subsequent change in fair value is recognized in the income statement in the 

period they occur. 

Other liabilities measured at amortized costs 

This category principally covers debt instruments and trade and other payables. They are initially rec-

ognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized costs using the effective interest 

method. Any difference between the net proceeds received and the principal value due on redemp-

tion is amortized over the duration of the debt instrument and is recognized as part of interest ex-

pense in the income statement. 

Income taxesIncome taxesIncome taxesIncome taxes    

The income tax charge is based on profit for the year and includes deferred taxes. Deferred taxes are 

calculated using the liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 

the amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the 

tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 

expected to be recovered or settled based on enacted or substantially enacted tax rates as of the bal-

ance-sheet date. 
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The amount of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets reflects the tax consequences on the 

balance-sheet date of the Company’s expectation of recovery or settlement of such carrying amount 

of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted and are classified as noncurrent assets (liabili-

ties) in the balance sheet. They are offset against each other if they relate to the same taxable entity 

and tax authority. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized when it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 

against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. At each balance-sheet date, the Company reas-

sesses unrecognized deferred tax assets and the carrying amount of deferred tax assets. The Company 

recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable 

that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The Company conversely 

reduces the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that 

sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or the entire deferred tax asset 

to be utilized. Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiar-

ies, associates and joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 

can be controlled and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Employee benefitsEmployee benefitsEmployee benefitsEmployee benefits    

Post-retirement benefits 

Santhera operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes. 

i) Defined benefit scheme 

Santhera’s pension plan in Switzerland is classified as a defined benefit plan. Payments under this 

scheme are made directly to the pension fund for the account of each insured person. Typically, on 

retirement, an employee will receive an amount of the accumulated defined benefit obligation de-

pending on several factors such as the total individual amount paid in, age and implied life expec-

tancy. The compensation will be in the form of a lifelong pension or a lump sum payment. The 

scheme also covers disability as a consequence of illness and death-in-service. 

The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present 

value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance-sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, 

adjusted for the effects of the asset ceiling, when relevant. 

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected 

unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting 

the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are de-

nominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity ap-

proximating the terms of the related pension liability. 

ii) Defined contribution schemes 

Defined contribution schemes are also funded through direct payments for the account of each in-

sured person. Upon retirement, an employee will receive an amount of the accumulated contributions 

in the form of a lifelong pension or a lump sum payment. No further obligations arise from these 

schemes other than the fixed periodic contributions to the plan. 
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Share-based compensation 

Santhera has established five stock option plans, the Employee Stock Option Plan 2004 (ESOP 2004ESOP 2004ESOP 2004ESOP 2004), 

the Executive Incentive Plan (EIPEIPEIPEIP), the Employee Stock Option Plan 2008 (ESOP 2008ESOP 2008ESOP 2008ESOP 2008), the Employee 

Stock Option Plan 2010 (ESOP 2010ESOP 2010ESOP 2010ESOP 2010) and the Board Stock Option Plan 2011 (BSOP 2011BSOP 2011BSOP 2011BSOP 2011) to align the long-

term interests of the members of the Board, the Executive Management, employees and selected con-

sultants who are eligible to participate in the ESOP 2004, 2008 2010 and BSOP 2011 (only Board mem-

bers). The EIP was only eligible to members of the Executive Management following the Company’s 

listing on the SIX in November 2006. Options granted under all plans are equity-settled. The fair value 

of granted employee stock options is recognized as personnel expenses and accounted for over the 

relevant vesting periods of each grant in accordance with IFRS 2. Stock option plan modifications can 

be made and the expenses are at least recognized such, as if no terms were modified; modifications 

which increase the fair value of options are expensed additionally. If not agreed otherwise termina-

tions of employment by the employer are treated as forfeiture and any previously accumulated share-

based payment expenses for unvested awards are reversed. 

ProvisionsProvisionsProvisionsProvisions    

Provisions are recognized when Santhera has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 

a past event, where it is more probable than not that a cash outflow will be required to settle the 

obligation and where a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 

expected future outflows. 

Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue recognitionrecognitionrecognitionrecognition    

Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of goods and services, net of value-added tax, rebates, 

discounts, returns and after eliminating intercompany sales. Revenue is recognized when title, risks 

and rewards of the products are transferred to customers. 

Revenue from out-licensing 

Out-licensing agreements are concluded with third parties, where the counterparty has to pay license 

fees. In situations where no further performance commitment exists, revenues are recognized on the 

earlier of when payments are received or collection is assured. Where continuous involvement for a 

certain period is required in the form of technology transfer or technical support, revenues are recog-

nized over the period in question. 

Revenue associated with up-front payments or performance milestones 

Such revenue is recognized based on conclusion of new contracts or achievement of milestones, as 

defined in the respective agreements. 

Revenue from royalties 

Royalty payments are recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the respective agreements. 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognized on a pro rata temporis basis using the effective interest method. 
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Research and development / intangible assetsResearch and development / intangible assetsResearch and development / intangible assetsResearch and development / intangible assets    

Research and development (R&DR&DR&DR&D) expenses are charged to the income statement as incurred. Devel-

opment expenses are capitalized as intangible assets when it is probable that future economic bene-

fits will flow to Santhera. Such intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the period 

of the expected benefit when the asset becomes available for use, and are reviewed for impairment 

at each balance-sheet date. Assets not available for use are tested annually. 

3333 Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgments Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgments Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgments Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgments     

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying 

Santhera’s accounting policies. Santhera makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The 

resulting accounting will not necessarily equal the related actual outcome. The following areas in-

volve assumptions and estimates that can have a significant impact on the consolidated financial 

statements: 

� Going concern assumption, see note 2 “Material uncertainties and ability to continue operations”. 

� Measurement and impairment testing of intangible assets, see note 7 “Impairment Test for Intan-

gible Assets”. 

� Measurement and impairment testing of inventory, see note 8 “Inventories”. 

� Assessment of contingent liabilities, see note 18 “Commitments and Contingent Liabilities”. 

� Personnel expenses from share-based payments in accordance with IFRS 2, i.e. estimates regard-

ing the valuation of employee stock options when granted or modified, see note 19 “Stock Option 

Plans”. 

� Actuarial valuations in the context of defined benefit pension plans where various assumptions on 

e.g. discount rates, salary increase rates and mortality rates, etc. bear significant uncertainties 

due to the long-term nature of the plans, see note 24 “Employee Expenses and Benefits”). 

4444 Exchange Rates of Principal CurrenciesExchange Rates of Principal CurrenciesExchange Rates of Principal CurrenciesExchange Rates of Principal Currencies    

    
Income statement in CHF 

average rates 
Balance sheet in CHF 

year-end rates 

    2012012012013333    2012 2012012012013333    2012 

1 euro (EUREUREUREUR) 1.2307 1.2053 1.2257 1.2075 

1 US dollar (USDUSDUSDUSD) 0.9270 0.9378 0.8904 0.9136 

1 Canadian dollar (CADCADCADCAD) 0.9004 0.9381 0.8325 0.9166 
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5555 Tangible Assets Tangible Assets Tangible Assets Tangible Assets     

In CHF thousands 

Laboratory 
and other 

equipment 
IT hard-

ware 

Leasehold  
improvements  

– finance lease 
Leasehold 

improvements 2013201320132013    

CostCostCostCost                  

At January 1 333333333333 629629629629 2,3142,3142,3142,314 540540540540 3,8163,8163,8163,816    

Additions 0 4 0 0 4444    

Disposals –149 0 –2,314 0 ––––2,4632,4632,4632,463    

At December 31At December 31At December 31At December 31    184184184184    633633633633    0000    540540540540    1,3571,3571,3571,357    

         
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses       

At January 1 306306306306 594594594594 2,3142,3142,3142,314 521521521521 3,7353,7353,7353,735    

Additions 13 25 0 9 47474747    

Disposals –149 0 –2,314 0 ––––2,4632,4632,4632,463    

Exchange differences 0 –2 0 1 ––––1111    

At December 31At December 31At December 31At December 31    170170170170    617617617617    0000    531531531531    1,3181,3181,3181,318    

                        

Net book valueNet book valueNet book valueNet book value    14141414    16161616    0000    10101010    39393939    

                        

In CHF thousands 

Laboratory 
and other 

equipment 
IT hard-

ware 

Leasehold  
improvements  

– finance lease 
Leasehold 

improvements 2012201220122012    

CostCostCostCost                  

At January 1 1,277 631 2,314 540 4,7624,7624,7624,762    

Additions 0 18 0 0 18181818    

Disposals –944 –20  0  0  ––––964964964964        

At December 31At December 31At December 31At December 31    333333333333    629629629629    2,3142,3142,3142,314    540540540540    3,8163,8163,8163,816    

         

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses       

At January 1 1,218 546 2,314 513 4,5914,5914,5914,591    

Additions 32 67 0 8 107107107107    

Disposals –944 –20 0 0 ––––964964964964    

Exchange differences 0 1 0 0 1111    

At December 31At December 31At December 31At December 31    306306306306    594594594594    2,3142,3142,3142,314    521521521521    3,7353,7353,7353,735    

                        

Net book valueNet book valueNet book valueNet book value    27272727    35353535    0000    19191919    81818181    

The insurance value (including fire) of tangible assets amounted to CHF 3.0 million as of December 31, 

2013 (December 31, 2012: CHF 3.0 million). 
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6666 Intangible AssetsIntangible AssetsIntangible AssetsIntangible Assets    

In CHF thousands 

Raxone®/ 
Catena® 

Capitalized  
development 

costs Raxone®/ 
Catena® Fipamezole 

IT software/ 
patents 2013201320132013    

CostCostCostCost                        

At January 1 20,981 3,662 3,918 293 28,85428,85428,85428,854    

Exchange differences 312 0 0 –1 311311311311    

At December 31At December 31At December 31At December 31    21,29321,29321,29321,293    3,6623,6623,6623,662    3,9183,9183,9183,918    292292292292    29,16529,16529,16529,165    

               

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses Accumulated amortization and impairment losses Accumulated amortization and impairment losses Accumulated amortization and impairment losses           

At January 1 16,989 2,952 3,918 281 24,14024,14024,14024,140    

Additions 0 0 0 6 6666    

Impairment 464 81 0 0 545545545545    

Exchange differences 249 0 0 0 249249249249    

At At At At December 31December 31December 31December 31    17,70217,70217,70217,702    3,0333,0333,0333,033    3,9183,9183,9183,918    287287287287    24,94024,94024,94024,940    

                        

Net book valueNet book valueNet book valueNet book value    3,5913,5913,5913,591    629629629629    0000    5555    4,2254,2254,2254,225    

                        
 

In CHF thousands 

Raxone®/ 
Catena® 

Capitalized  
development 

costs Raxone®/ 
Catena® Fipamezole 

IT software/ 
patents 2012201220122012    

CostCostCostCost                        

At January 1 21,713 3,764 3,918 460 29,85529,85529,85529,855    

Additions 0 0 0 14 14141414    

Disposals –569 –102 0 –181 ––––852852852852    

Exchange differences –163 0 0 0 ––––163163163163    

At December 31At December 31At December 31At December 31    20,98120,98120,98120,981    3,6623,6623,6623,662    3,9183,9183,9183,918    293293293293    28,85428,85428,85428,854    

               

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses Accumulated amortization and impairment losses Accumulated amortization and impairment losses Accumulated amortization and impairment losses           

At January 1 597 31 3,918 453 4,9994,9994,9994,999    

Additions 55 10 0 9 74747474    

Impairment 16,878 3,013 0 0 19,89119,89119,89119,891    

Disposals –569 –102 0 –181 ––––852852852852    

Exchange differences 19  0 0  0 28282828        

At December 31At December 31At December 31At December 31    16,98916,98916,98916,989    2,9522,9522,9522,952    3,9183,9183,9183,918    281281281281    24,14024,14024,14024,140    

                        

Net book valueNet book valueNet book valueNet book value    3,9923,9923,9923,992    720720720720    0000    12121212    4,7144,7144,7144,714    
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7777 Impairment TestImpairment TestImpairment TestImpairment Test    forforforfor    Intangible AssetsIntangible AssetsIntangible AssetsIntangible Assets    

IAS 36 requires intangible assets not available for use to be tested for impairment on an annual basis 

by comparing the carrying value to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 

fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. 

An entity should also consider the relationship between market capitalization and book values, 

among other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. As of December 31, 2013 the market 

capitalization of Santhera was above the book value of its equity and therefore not indicating a po-

tential impairment of the intangible assets (other than as of December 31, 2012).  

RaxoneRaxoneRaxoneRaxone®®®®/Catena/Catena/Catena/Catena®®®®    (INN: (INN: (INN: (INN: idebenoneidebenoneidebenoneidebenone) and capitalized development costs Raxone) and capitalized development costs Raxone) and capitalized development costs Raxone) and capitalized development costs Raxone®®®®/Catena/Catena/Catena/Catena®®®®    

Raxone®/Catena® and the capitalized development costs Raxone®/Catena® amounting to a net book 

value of CHF 4.2 million at year-end 2013 (2012: CHF 4.7 million) are the primary intangible assets of 

Santhera and form the basis of the Raxone®/Catena® development projects. Movements are mainly 

related to impairments in the amount of CHF 0.5 million (2012: CHF 19.9 million and FX valuation 

CHF 0.1 million). 

Santhera’s main intangible asset not yet available for use does not generate cash flows on a stand-

alone basis and was allocated to the Company which is considered to be the smallest identifiable 

group of assets that generates cash flows that are largely independent. 

Management used the risk-adjusted Net Present Value (rNPVrNPVrNPVrNPV) model taking into consideration the 

expected cumulative probability of reaching the market to calculate recoverable amount. This is a 

customary model for the valuation of pharmaceutical intangibles.  

The rNPV model considers the net cash flows over the expected lifetime of the products based on the 

lifetime of the underlying intellectual property or the market exclusivity granted through orphan drug 

protection. For the purpose of estimating these cash flows, Santhera made estimates about the ex-

pected revenues based on estimated market size and patient numbers, expected market penetration 

rates, product pricing and project- or product-related costs. 

Based on the strategic focus on LHON, the impairment test for 2013 continues to focus entirely on the 

cash flows to be derived from LHON in Europe. 

The key assumptions for the tests were as follows: 

    2013201320132013    2012 

Discount rate (WACC) 15% 15% 

Market growth rate (terminal value) 0% 0% 

Probability of reaching market > 50% > 50% 

Period of projected cash flows 5 years 5 years 

The impairment test of the recoverable amount of the intangible assets performed as explained above 

resulted in an impairment of the carrying value of “Raxone®/Catena®” of CHF 0.4 million and “Capital-

ized development costs Raxone®/Catena®” in the amount of CHF 0.1 million as of June 30, 2013. 



Santhera Annual Report 2013 

– 26 – 

Sensitivity to changes in assumptionsSensitivity to changes in assumptionsSensitivity to changes in assumptionsSensitivity to changes in assumptions    

A material uncertainty remains as to whether a final and successful market registration can be 

achieved for LHON. A risk of future adjustments to the carrying amount of the Raxone®/Catena® pro-

jects remains should the Company fail to obtain such registrations, see note 2 “Material uncertainties 

and ability to continue operations”.  

8888 InventoriesInventoriesInventoriesInventories    

Inventories have a carrying amount of nil at the end of 2013 (December 31, 2012: TCHF 27 of finished 

goods). Inventories mainly represent the value of active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIAPIAPIAPI) for Rax-

one®/Catena® which are kept by Santhera as stock for market supply, potential launch/ 

commercialization and inventory risk management purposes (security stock). Under the uncertainties 

following the negative opinion on Santhera’s MAA in January 2013 (see note 2 “Summary of Significant 

Accounting Policies”), an allowance of CHF 2.3 million was booked on API through R&D expenses, 

half-finished goods and finished goods at the end of 2012. 

9999 Trade and Other ReceivablesTrade and Other ReceivablesTrade and Other ReceivablesTrade and Other Receivables    

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Trade receivables 0 518 

Other receivables (nonfinancial) 42 121 

Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31    42424242    639 

Trade receivables in 2012 resulted from sales in the European Union (EUEUEUEU), see note 20 “Segment and 

Geographic Information”. Other receivables consist mainly of amounts due from the government for 

tax reimbursements (VAT) and other positions (reimbursement of expenses). They are due within 30 to 

120 days and bear no interest. No allowance for doubtful debts was recognized on the receivables as 

management estimates that no allowance is necessary as of December 31, 2013, and 2012. 

10101010 Financial Assets and LiabilitFinancial Assets and LiabilitFinancial Assets and LiabilitFinancial Assets and Liabilities ies ies ies ––––    LongLongLongLong----termtermtermterm    

In April 2013, Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG agreed with its landlord on a one-time payment 

of CHF 0.9 million to settle the finance lease liabilities (short- and long-term). The difference be-

tween the financial liability of CHF 2.2 million (as of December 31, 2012) and the settlement amount 

has been recorded as finance income. As a result, no finance lease liabilities are shown as of Decem-

ber 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012: short-term TCHF 36 and long-term CHF 2.17 million). 

Financial assets long-term include cash deposits with the landlord and the government for customs 

clearance in the amount of TCHF 85 (2012: TCHF 362). 
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11111111 Cash and Cash EquivalentsCash and Cash EquivalentsCash and Cash EquivalentsCash and Cash Equivalents    

In CHF thousands 2013201320132013    2012 

Cash at banks and on hand   

In CHF 4,347 4,836 

In EUR 331 2,148 

In USD 279 336 

In CAD 87 1,463 

Short-term money market deposits   

In CHF 0 3,500 

Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31    5,0445,0445,0445,044    12,283 

Cash at banks earns interests at floating rates based on bank deposit rates. The fair value of the en-

tirety of these positions at year-end amounted to CHF 5.0 million (2012: CHF 12.3 million). 

12121212 Share CapitalShare CapitalShare CapitalShare Capital    

Ordinary share capitalOrdinary share capitalOrdinary share capitalOrdinary share capital    

As of January 1, 2012, the share capital amounted to CHF 3,673,463, divided into 3,673,463 Shares at a 

nominal value of CHF 1 each. During 2012, 4,075 Shares were issued from conditional capital upon the 

exercise of stock options under the EIP. As a result, as of December 31, 2012, the share capital amount-

ed to CHF 3,677,538, divided into 3,677,538 Shares at a nominal value of CHF 1 each. 

During 2013, 11,511 Shares were issued from conditional capital upon the exercise of stock options un-

der the EIP and ESOP 2004. 245,000 additional Shares were issued from conditional capital for the 

SEDA (see below). As a result, as of December 31, 2013, the share capital amounted to CHF 3,934,049, 

divided into 3,934,049 Shares at a nominal value of CHF 1 each. 

Standby Equity Distribution Agreement (SEDA) 

In October 2013, Santhera entered into a SEDA with YA Global.    Under the terms of the agreement, YA 

Global has committed to provide up to CHF 10 million in equity financing during a period of three 

years. The SEDA has been established in order to support the funding of Santhera's operations. It re-

mains at the sole discretion of the Company to determine the timing of the funding. In exchange for 

the funds, YA Global will receive Shares. Santhera paid an upfront fee of 3% of YA Global's total com-

mitment in newly issued Shares from the existing conditional capital. This amount of TCHF 300 was 

settled with 85,070 Shares and represents cost of issuance share capital (non-cash relevant) as shown 

in the equity statement. During 2013, Santhera has drawn a total of TCHF 416 from YA Global for which 

115,505 Shares were delivered. 

Treasury shares 

In the context of the SEDA financing, Santhera issued 245,000 Shares, of which 85,070 were used as 

payment for the up-front fee, and 115,505 were delivered to YA Global draws in 2013. These transac-

tions led to a net amount of 44,425 treasury shares to be used for further draws under the SEDA. 
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In connection with the liquidation of Oy Juvantia Pharma, Turku, Finland (JuvantiaJuvantiaJuvantiaJuvantia), a company ac-

quired in 2009, Santhera received 8,028 Shares from former Juvantia shareholders. These treasury 

shares serve as pledge from the former owners of Juvantia for compensation of a potential tax claim 

related to pre-acquisition activities of Juvantia. Final tax assessment by the Finnish authorities is 

expected end 2014, beginning 2015. 

In total, Santhera holds 52,453 treasury shares as of December 31, 2013 (2012: 8,028). 

Authorized share capitalAuthorized share capitalAuthorized share capitalAuthorized share capital    

At the ASM in April 2012, the shareholders approved an extension of the authorized share capital of 

the Company. The Board is authorized to increase the share capital at any time until April 22, 2014 

through the issuance of up to 1,800,000 Shares with a nominal value of CHF 1 each. An increase in 

partial amounts is permitted. For each such increase, the Board shall determine the issue price, the 

type of payment, the date of issuance of new Shares, the conditions for the exercise of pre-emptive 

rights and the beginning date for dividend entitlement. 

Conditional share capitalConditional share capitalConditional share capitalConditional share capital    

At the Shareholder’s Meeting held on April 23, 2012, the shareholders approved a maximum increase 

of the share capital by an aggregate amount of CHF 700,000 (2012: CHF 700,000) through the issuance 

of a maximum of 700,000 (2012: 700,000) Shares with a nominal value of CHF 1 each. The Shares can 

be issued through the exercise of option rights which are granted according to respective regulations 

of the Board. The exercise price of each option to be granted shall, at the full discretion of the Board, 

either equal (i) the weighted average share price during the three months preceding the grant for 

employees outside the US and Canada, or (ii) the closing price of the Share at the grant date for em-

ployees in the US and Canada. 

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had a conditional share capital, pursuant to the above provi-

sions, whereby the share capital may be increased by 

(i) a maximum amount of CHF 684,414 (2012: 695,925) through the issuance of up to 684,414 

(2012: 695,025) Shares, under the exclusion of shareholders’ pre-emptive rights, for option rights 

being exercised under the Company’s stock option plans, see note 19 “Stock Option Plans”, and 

(ii) a maximum amount of CHF 355,000 (2012: CHF 600,000) by issuing up to 355,000 (2012: 600,000) 

Shares, through the exercise of warrants/options and/or notes granted in connection with bonds 

or similar debt instruments linked with option and/or conversion rights granted by the Company. 
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13131313 Deferred TaxesDeferred TaxesDeferred TaxesDeferred Taxes    

Net deferred taxes recordedNet deferred taxes recordedNet deferred taxes recordedNet deferred taxes recorded    

In CHF thousands 2013201320132013    2012 

Temporary differences on intangible assets 844 941 

Tax loss carryforwards –844 ––––941 

Deferred tax liabilities recognizedDeferred tax liabilities recognizedDeferred tax liabilities recognizedDeferred tax liabilities recognized    0000    0 

      

Tax loss carryforwards 338,649 347,385 

Of which recorded –4,220 ––––4,703 

Of which unrecordedOf which unrecordedOf which unrecordedOf which unrecorded    334,429334,429334,429334,429    342,682 

   

Expiring      

1 year 21,958 34,134 

2 years 47,276 21,958 

3 years 9,738 47,276 

4 years 5,832 9,738 

Five years 22,671 5,832 

More than five years 198,433 196,805 

Without expiration 28,521 26,939 

Total unrecorded tax loss carryforwardsTotal unrecorded tax loss carryforwardsTotal unrecorded tax loss carryforwardsTotal unrecorded tax loss carryforwards    334,429334,429334,429334,429    342,682 

Due to the uncertainty surrounding the future results of operations and the uncertainty as to whether 

Santhera can use the loss carryforwards for tax purposes, deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 

were only considered to the extent that they offset taxable temporary differences within the same 

taxable entity. As there are no temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, no 

deferred tax liability has to be recognized. No deferred tax assets are calculated on temporary differ-

ences related to pension obligations from IAS 19 (TCHF 997 per December 31, 2013 and TCHF 1,821 per 

December 31, 2012, respectively). Furthermore, there are no income tax consequences for Santhera of 

paying a dividend to its shareholders. 

 

14141414 Trade and Other PayablesTrade and Other PayablesTrade and Other PayablesTrade and Other Payables    

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Trade payables 597 654 

Other payables (nonfinancial) 0 20 

Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31    597597597597    674 

All positions are noninterest-bearing and usually settled within 30 to 60 days. 
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15151515 Accrued Expenses Accrued Expenses Accrued Expenses Accrued Expenses     

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Development programs 785 1,143 

Liabilities to employees 53 188 

Accrued marketing and sales expenses 27 304 

Expenses for facility, consulting and other 171 583 

Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31    1,0361,0361,0361,036    2,218 

16161616 ShortShortShortShort----term Provisionsterm Provisionsterm Provisionsterm Provisions    

In CHF thousands 2013201320132013    2012 

At January 1 0 234 

Reversal 0 ––––234 

Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31    0000    0 

No short-term provisions were provided in 2013 (2012: CHF 0). 
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17171717 Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits     

Consolidated balance sheetConsolidated balance sheetConsolidated balance sheetConsolidated balance sheet    

In CHF thousands    

JanuaryJanuaryJanuaryJanuary    1, 2012 1, 2012 1, 2012 1, 2012 
reportedreportedreportedreported    RestatementRestatementRestatementRestatement    

JanuaryJanuaryJanuaryJanuary    1, 1, 1, 1, 
2012 restated2012 restated2012 restated2012 restated    

Equity:    

Employee benefit reserve 0 ––––525 ––––525 

Total equity 42,984 ––––525 42,459 

    

Total noncurrent liabilities:    

Pension liabilities 1,185 525 1,710 

    

Consolidated balance sheetConsolidated balance sheetConsolidated balance sheetConsolidated balance sheet    

In CHF thousands    

DecemberDecemberDecemberDecember    31, 31, 31, 31, 
2012 reported2012 reported2012 reported2012 reported    RestatementRestatementRestatementRestatement    

DecemberDecemberDecemberDecember    31, 31, 31, 31, 
2012 restated2012 restated2012 restated2012 restated    

Equity:    

Net actuarial gains from defined benefit plans 0 157 157 

Net result ––––31,448 3 ––––31,445 

Total equity 11,730 ––––365 11,365 

    

Total noncurrent liabilities:    

Pension liabilities 1,456 365 1,821 

    

Consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive incomeConsolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive incomeConsolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive incomeConsolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income  

For the year ended December 31, in CHF thousands 

2012201220122012    

    reportedreportedreportedreported    RestatementRestatementRestatementRestatement    

2012201220122012    

    restatedrestatedrestatedrestated    

Development ––––28,724 2 ––––28,722 

General and administrative ––––4,080 1 ––––4,079 

Net result ––––31,448 3 ––––31,445 

Net actuarial gains/(losses) from defined benefit 
plans 

0 157 157 

Total comprehensive result ––––31,687 160 ––––31,257 

             

Consolidated statement of cash flowsConsolidated statement of cash flowsConsolidated statement of cash flowsConsolidated statement of cash flows             

For the year ended December 31, in CHF thousands 

2012201220122012    

    reportedreportedreportedreported    RestatementRestatementRestatementRestatement    

2012201220122012    

    RestatedRestatedRestatedRestated    

Change in pension liabilities 271 ––––3 268 

Basic and diluted loss per share was not affected. 
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18181818 Commitments and Contingent LiabilitiesCommitments and Contingent LiabilitiesCommitments and Contingent LiabilitiesCommitments and Contingent Liabilities    

CommitmentsCommitmentsCommitmentsCommitments    

Commitment for operating lease: buildings 

Santhera has lease contracts for its facilities in Liestal (Switzerland), Charlestown (US), Montréal (Can-

ada) and Lörrach (Germany). 

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Within 1 year 125 320 

1 year through 5 years 0 60 

Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31    125125125125    380 

Commitment for finance lease 

In CHF thousands    

2012012012013333    
MinimumMinimumMinimumMinimum    
paymentspaymentspaymentspayments    

2012012012013333    
Present Present Present Present 

value of value of value of value of 
paymentspaymentspaymentspayments    

2012 
Minimum 
payments 

2012 
Present 
value of 

payments 

Within 1 year 0 0 162 153 

1 year through 5 years 0 0 648 534 

After 5 years 0 0 3,509 1,520 

Total minimum lease payments 0 0 4,319 2,207 

Less amounts representing financing charges 0 0 -2,112 0 

Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31    0000    0000    2,207 2,207 

In April 2013, Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG agreed with its landlord to settle the finance 

lease liabilities, see note 10 “Financial Assets and Liabilities – Long-term”. Therefore, no commitment 

for finance lease is shown as per December 31, 2013. 

Contingent liabilitiesContingent liabilitiesContingent liabilitiesContingent liabilities    

License agreement with Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale  

Based on a license agreement between Santhera and the Institut National de la Santé et de la Re-

cherche Médicale, Paris, France (INSERMINSERMINSERMINSERM), Santhera has an obligation to make a milestone payment 

(TEUR 150) after approval of the first New Drug Application for Catena® in FA filed with the US Food and 

Drug Administration. In addition, Santhera has an obligation to pay to INSERM a running royalty equal 

to 3% of net sales, not to exceed TEUR 500 per year and Santhera has to pay 25% of any non-royalty 

sublicense income received in the US and Canada. As of December 2013, Santhera has discontinued all 

development activities for Catena® in FA. 
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Collaboration and license agreement with Takeda 

In September 2013, Santhera licensed back all previously granted rights in FA and DMD in order to 

increase its strategic flexibility. In return, Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Ltd, Osaka, Japan 

(TakedaTakedaTakedaTakeda), is eligible to obtain a percentage from future licensing and/or sales income generated by 

Santhera in DMD. In addition, Santhera has obtained the right to cross-reference Takeda's idebenone 

data for regulatory use in any indication and in any territory. If Santhera makes use of such cross-

reference right, Takeda is eligible to obtain a percentage from future licensing and/or sales income 

generated by Santhera in such indications. Lastly, both companies agreed to terminate a similar 

agreement for FA signed in 2005 and Santhera's contingent liability of EUR 1 million payable to Takeda 

has been waived. As offset, Takeda is eligible to receive EUR 1 million as a percentage from future 

income generated by Santhera. 

Agreement with the University of Leuven 

In March 2005, Santhera entered into an agreement with Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Leuven, Bel-

gium (K.U. LeuvenK.U. LeuvenK.U. LeuvenK.U. Leuven), under which K.U. Leuven assigned to Santhera its patents and patent applica-

tions relating to the use of Catena®/Raxone® to treat various forms of muscular-dystrophy-related 

disorders particularly DMD. Based on this agreement, Santhera has filed patent applications in major 

territories covering the use of Catena®/Raxone® for the treatment of DMD. 

K.U. Leuven is entitled to a success fee of up to TEUR 400 if and when Santhera commercializes any 

product in a major market, which includes the EU, the US or Japan and certain countries within the 

EU. In addition, in the event Santhera commercializes the product itself, K.U. Leuven is entitled to 

receive 5% royalties on net sales. In the event Santhera grants commercialization rights to a third 

party, K.U. Leuven will receive 15% of all the consideration received by Santhera from such third par-

ty. 

License agreement with Novartis 

On June 30, 2007, Santhera entered into an agreement with Novartis Pharma AG, Basel, Switzerland 

(NovartisNovartisNovartisNovartis), under which it in-licensed omigapil. Santhera intends to develop omigapil for the treat-

ment of Congenital Muscular Dystrophies (CMDCMDCMDCMD). Additional payments will be due to Novartis a) upon 

start of a pivotal clinical trial, b) upon regulatory approval in a major market country, and c) after 

reaching certain commercialization milestones. Santhera will also have to pay royalties to Novartis 

calculated on net sales. 

Funding agreement with Association Française contre les Myopathies 

In October 2009, Santhera entered into an agreement with Association Française contre les Myopa-

thies (AFMAFMAFMAFM), under which Santhera received a funding of EUR 0.7 million to conduct certain preclinical 

studies in omigapil. In case Santhera launches omigapil for the treatment of CMD, it has to refund the 

grant. Two years after such launch, Santhera has to make an additional, final payment of EUR 1.5 

million to AFM. 
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Capital loans from Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation 

In connection with the acquisition of Juvantia in 2009, the title of capital loans from the Finnish 

Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation, Helsinki, Finland (TekesTekesTekesTekes), were passed on to  

Santhera. The loans were granted by Tekes in order to develop new medicines for movement disor-

ders in Parkinson’s disease (fipamezole). Upon grant of a first marketing authorization for fipamezole 

in a major country as specified by the contract, EUR 2.4 million plus accrued interests would become 

due and payable. Another EUR 2.4 million plus accrued interests would become due and payable one 

year after such first marketing authorization. Should no marketing authorization be granted, no pay-

ments will be due to Tekes under these capital loans. As of December 31, 2013, Santhera had no ongo-

ing development work with fipamezole in movement disorders. 

Capital loans from Finnish National Fund for Research and Development 

In connection with the acquisition of Juvantia in 2009, the title of capital loans from the Finnish Na-

tional Fund for Research and Development, Helsinki, Finland (SitraSitraSitraSitra), were passed on to Santhera. The 

loans were granted by Sitra in order to develop new medicines for movement disorders in Parkinson’s 

disease (fipamezole). Upon grant of a first marketing authorization for fipamezole in a major country 

as specified by the contract before December 31, 2014, EUR 0.2 million will be due. Another EUR 0.2 

million would become due and payable one year after such first marketing authorization. Should no 

marketing authorization be granted, no payments will be due to Sitra under these capital loans and 

the respective contingent liabilities would lapse. As of December 31, 2013, Santhera had no ongoing 

development work with fipamezole in movement disorders. 

Agreement with Orion 

In connection with the acquisition of Juvantia in 2009, Santhera was assigned the license agreement 

with Orion Corporation Orion Pharma, Espoo, Finland (OrionOrionOrionOrion), on certain US patent rights on fipame-

zole. Under this license agreement, Santhera has to pay to Orion 1% on the US net sales and a limited 

royalty of up to USD 4.4 million based on future development and sales milestones received. As of 

December 31, 2013, Santhera had no ongoing development work with fipamezole in movement disor-

ders. 

Final tax assessment of Juvantia 

In connection with the liquidation of Juvantia and the transfer of intellectual property into Switzer-

land, the Company faces an uncertain tax position in Finland in the maximum amount of TEUR 250. 

An initial tax assessment in 2010 confirmed no such tax liability would become due and payable in 

line with the filed tax declaration. Final tax assessment by the Finnish authorities is expected to be 

obtained towards the end of 2014 / beginning of 2015. 

Agreement with the National Institutes of Health  

In June 2013, Santhera has obtained an exclusive license from the National Institutes of Health, Be-

thesda/Maryland, US (NIHNIHNIHNIH), to its rights on a patent granted in the US for the use of idebenone for the 

treatment of ppMS. Under the terms of the agreement, Santhera would have to make certain mile-

stone payments to the NIH not exceeding USD 1.4 million in total. Furthermore, the NIH is eligible to a 

royalty fee of 3% on net sales and 15% of considerations received in case Santhera sublicenses the 

program. 



Santhera Annual Report 2013 

– 35 – 

Contracts for clinical development 

Santhera has entered into contracts for clinical development with e.g. contract research organizations 

and clinics. Santhera compensates these parties for services provided on a regular basis. It has the 

right to terminate the agreements at any time at its sole discretion. In case of early termination,  

Santhera must pay for all cost incurred by the respective counterparty up to termination. The ex-

pected payments for these contracts are as follows: 

In CHF thousands 2013201320132013    2012 

Within 1 year 635 751 

1 year through 5 years 300 415 

Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31Total at December 31    935935935935    1,166 

ContingenContingenContingenContingent liabilitiest liabilitiest liabilitiest liabilities    summarysummarysummarysummary    

Santhera believes that the disclosures above and accruals (see note 15 “Accrued expenses”) are ade-

quate based upon currently available information. However, given the inherent difficulties in esti-

mating liabilities relating to clinical development, regulatory, tax, possible litigation and certain oth-

er matters due to uncertainty concerning both the amount and timing of future expenditures, it can-

not be guaranteed that additional costs will not be incurred materially beyond the amounts accrued. 

19191919 Stock Option Plans Stock Option Plans Stock Option Plans Stock Option Plans     

Santhera has established stock option plans to align the long-term interests of the members of the 

Board, the Executive Management, employees and consultants. Options granted under the stock op-

tion plans are equity-settled. 

Executive Incentive PlanExecutive Incentive PlanExecutive Incentive PlanExecutive Incentive Plan    

In November 2006, under the EIP, the members of the Executive Management were granted stock 

options to acquire 101,065 Shares, as a management incentive. Each of these stock options entitles its 

holder to purchase one Share at an exercise price of CHF 1. The vesting period of the options was one 

year. At the end of the option term, i.e. after a period of ten years as from the grant date, all unexer-

cised stock options shall expire without value. The EIP is administered under the responsibility of the 

Board. No further grants can be made under the EIP. 

Options outstanding, exercised or forfeited under the EIP 

All options under the EIP were granted to the four members of the Executive Management as of No-

vember 8, 2006, and had a vesting period of 12 months, see note 29 “Related Party Transactions”.  

Number of options             2013201320132013       2012 

Plan Exer-
cised 

Forfeit-
ed 

Expired Out-
standing 

Exer-
cised 

Forfeit-
ed 

Expired Out-
standing 

EIP 10,737 0 0 44,598 4,075 0 0 55,335 
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Employee Stock Option PlansEmployee Stock Option PlansEmployee Stock Option PlansEmployee Stock Option Plans    

The Company adopted the ESOP 2004, ESOP 2008 and ESOP 2010 to provide incentives to members of 

the Board, the Executive Management, employees and consultants helping to ensure their commit-

ment to Santhera over the long term. Since January 1, 2010, new grants have been allocated under the 

ESOP 2010. Option grants are made from time to time at the discretion of the Board or as contractually 

agreed with senior employees. The ESOP 2004, ESOP 2008 and ESOP 2010 contain customary provisions 

in respect of the adjustment or cancellation of stock options upon termination of employment, re-

tirement, death, disability and certain corporate transactions. All stock option plans are administered 

under the responsibility of the Board. Each stock option entitles its holder to purchase one Share of 

the Company at an exercise price defined to be either a) equal to the volume-weighted average share 

price in the three preceding months for Swiss employees, or b) the closing share price on the SIX Swiss 

Exchange (SIXSIXSIXSIX) at each grant date for employees in the US and Canada only. In general, 50% of the 

stock options shall vest on the second anniversary, 25% on the third anniversary and the remaining 

25% on the fourth anniversary of the grant date. At the end of the option term, i.e. after a period of 

10 years as from the grant date, unexercised stock options shall expire without value. Subject to the 

provisions of the ESOP 2004, vested stock options of employees leaving the Company in good faith do 

not lapse. Under the ESOP 2008 and ESOP 2010 vested stock options of employees leaving the Company 

in good faith will expire six months after the termination date of the employment. Unvested stock 

options of employees leaving the Company are forfeited under all stock option plans. 

As of December 31, 2013, 369,993 stock options (2012: 270,577) are available for future grants. 

Options outstanding, exercised, forfeited or expired under ESOP 2004, ESOP 2008 and ESOP 2010 

Number of options             2013201320132013       2012 

 Exer-
cised 

Forfeit-
ed 

Expired Out-
standing 

Exer-
cised 

Forfeit-
ed 

Expired Out-
standing 

ESOP 2004 774 0 6,040 85,335 0 0 34,313 92,149 

ESOP 2008 0 0 28,000 5,500 0 675 56,425 33,500 

ESOP 2010 0 36,176 22,000 153,988 0 11,150 46,325 211,364 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    774774774774    36,17636,17636,17636,176    56,04056,04056,04056,040    244,823244,823244,823244,823    0 11,825 137,063 337,013 

Board Stock Option PlanBoard Stock Option PlanBoard Stock Option PlanBoard Stock Option Plan    

In January 2011, the Company adopted the BSOP 2011 to provide incentives to members of the Board. 

Since January 1, 2011, new grants have been allocated under this plan. The allocation of grants is 

made according to the Board compensation on a current basis. The plan contains the same customary 

provisions as under the ESOP plans described above. Each stock option entitles its holder to purchase 

one Share of the Company at an exercise price defined to be either a) equal to the volume-weighted 

average share price in the three preceding months for Swiss and EU Board members, or b) the closing 

share price on the SIX at each grant date for US or Canadian Board members. In general 100% of the 

stock options shall vest on the first anniversary of the grant date. At the end of the option term, i.e. 

after a period of 10 years as from the grant date, unexercised stock options shall expire without value. 

Vested stock options of Board members leaving the Board in good faith will expire six months after 

the termination date of them being a member of the Board. Unvested stock options of Board mem-

bers leaving the Board are forfeited. 
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Options outstanding, exercised, forfeited or expired under BSOP 2011 

Number of options             2013201320132013       2012 

 Exer-
cised 

Forfeit-
ed 

Expired Out-
standing 

Exer-
cised 

Forfeit-
ed 

Expired Out-
standing 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    0000    18,50018,50018,50018,500    0000    25,00025,00025,00025,000    0 0 0 33,000 

Fair value calculations for stock options granted under ESOP 2010 and BSOP 2011Fair value calculations for stock options granted under ESOP 2010 and BSOP 2011Fair value calculations for stock options granted under ESOP 2010 and BSOP 2011Fair value calculations for stock options granted under ESOP 2010 and BSOP 2011    

The fair value of stock options is determined at each grant date by using the Hull-White option pric-

ing model. The calculation of the option value was performed by applying the following parameters: 

 2013201320132013    2012 

Market price of stock CHF 1.09 to 6.00 CHF 3.63 to 5.35 

Exercise prices CHF 1.97 to 3.66 CHF 3.90 to 4.77 

Weighted average fair value of options granted CHF 1.47 CHF 1.53 

Expected volatility1 65% to 73% 65% 

CHF risk-free interest rate 0.75% to 1.11% p.a. 0.60% to 0.85% 
p.a. 

Option term2 10 years 10 years 

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 

1 The expected volatility was determined on the basis of the historical volatility of relevant equity indices and implied volatili-
ties of warrants on shares of selected biotech companies. 

2 After expiration of the vesting period, the stock options become American style options and may be exercised any time until 
the end of the option term. The option pricing model takes into consideration certain assumptions about potential early ex-
ercises. 

Number of stock options outstanding and exercisableNumber of stock options outstanding and exercisableNumber of stock options outstanding and exercisableNumber of stock options outstanding and exercisable    

Number of options 2013201320132013    2012 

Outstanding at January 1Outstanding at January 1Outstanding at January 1Outstanding at January 1    425,348425,348425,348425,348    501,061 

Granted1 11,300 79,750 

Exercised2 –11,511 ––––4,075 

Forfeited –54,676 ––––11,825 

Expired –56,040 ––––139,563 

Outstanding at December 31Outstanding at December 31Outstanding at December 31Outstanding at December 31    314,421314,421314,421314,421    425,348 

Exercisable at December 31Exercisable at December 31Exercisable at December 31Exercisable at December 31    263,371263,371263,371263,371    203,609 

1 In 2012, 148,014 options were modified. 

2 The average closing share price of the trading days when options were exercised during the reporting period 2013 was 
CHF 2.56 (2012: CHF 4.59). 

The value of stock options granted is recognized as personnel expenses over their vesting period. In 

2013, stock option grants resulted in personnel expenses of TCHF 290 (TCHF 101 related to R&D, TCHF 26 

related to Marketing & Sales (M&SM&SM&SM&S) and TCHF 163 to General & Administration (G&AG&AG&AG&A)) and in 2012, such 

grants resulted in personnel expenses of TCHF 429 (TCHF 185 related to R&D, TCHF 55 related to M&S 

and TCHF 189 to G&A). 
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Of the above mentioned TCHF 290, TCHF 41 were expensed in 2013 for the accelerated vesting in the 

course of the option plan modification from May/June 2012. During 2012, out of a total of TCHF 429, 

TCHF 3 were expensed for that option plan modification. 

Terms of options outstanding at December 31Terms of options outstanding at December 31Terms of options outstanding at December 31Terms of options outstanding at December 31    

Exercise price range for 
options (in CHF) 

Number 
outstanding 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

2013201320132013    
Number Number Number Number 

exercisableexercisableexercisableexercisable    

Number 
outstand-

ing 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 
life (years) 

2012 
Number 

exercisable 

1.00 46,434 2.75 46,434 57,945 3.73 57,945 

from 3.85 to 10.35 178,988 8.45 127,938 244,364 8.65 23,000 

from 24.45 to 30.10 5,500 2.11 5,500 19,500 1.59 19,125 

from 59.44 to 68.30 77,196 1.76 77,196 85,236 2.58 85,236 

from 72.70 to 114.50 6,303 2.89 6,303 18,303 1.99 18,303 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    314,421314,421314,421314,421    5.745.745.745.74    263,371263,371263,371263,371    425,348425,348425,348425,348    6.156.156.156.15    203,609203,609203,609203,609    

20202020 Segment and Geographic Information Segment and Geographic Information Segment and Geographic Information Segment and Geographic Information     

Segment Segment Segment Segment informationinformationinformationinformation    

Santhera operates in one operating segment, the development and commercialization of specialty 

niche products for the treatment of mitochondrial and neuromuscular diseases. The Board, the Execu-

tive Management and senior managers, being the CODM, assess the reporting data and allocate re-

sources as one segment on an aggregated consolidated level according to the operating expenses by 

function. Santhera generates revenue from sales of Catena® for the treatment of LHON, DMD and FA. 

Geographic revenue information is based on location of the customer. 

Geographic informationGeographic informationGeographic informationGeographic information    

Net sales 

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

North America 852 3,186 

EU 467 352 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    1,3191,3191,3191,319    3,538 

Noncurrent assets (excluding financial instruments and deferred taxes) 

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

EU (Germany) 3,590 3,992 

Switzerland 674 803 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    4,2644,2644,2644,264    4,795 

In 2013, net sales of Catena® amounted to CHF 0.85 million in Canada and to CHF 0.47 million in the EU 

through the Named Patient Program (NPPNPPNPPNPP) (2012: CHF 3.2 million and CHF 0.35 million, respectively). 
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21212121 Gross Profit BreakdownGross Profit BreakdownGross Profit BreakdownGross Profit Breakdown    

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Net sales 1,319 3,538 

RevenueRevenueRevenueRevenue    1,3191,3191,3191,319    3,538 

      

Cost of goods sold  –140 –349 

Of which amortization of intangibles 0 –63 

Gross profitGross profitGross profitGross profit    1,1791,1791,1791,179    3,189 

22222222 Other Operating Income Other Operating Income Other Operating Income Other Operating Income     

This position consists primarily of reimbursements from scientific programs and income from disposal 

of assets. 

23232323 Operating Expenses by NatureOperating Expenses by NatureOperating Expenses by NatureOperating Expenses by Nature    

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    

2012 

restated1 

External R&D expenses –1,826 ––––5,700 

Patent and license expenses –345 ––––388 

Marketing expenses –441 ––––929 

Employee expenses –3,925 ––––5,660 

Of which non-cash-relevant expenses for share-based payments –290 ––––429 

G&A expenses    –1,314 ––––1,388 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment    –598 ––––20,009 

Lease expenses –295 ––––568 

Other operating expenses 0 ––––56 

Total operating expensesTotal operating expensesTotal operating expensesTotal operating expenses    ––––8,7448,7448,7448,744    ––––34,698 

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 

Amortization of intangible assets is recognized in costs of good sold, R&D and G&A expenses. Impair-

ment of intangible assets is recognized in R&D expenses. Allowances on inventory are recognized in 

R&D expenses. 



Santhera Annual Report 2013 

– 40 – 

24242424 Employee Expenses and BenefitsEmployee Expenses and BenefitsEmployee Expenses and BenefitsEmployee Expenses and Benefits    

Employee expensesEmployee expensesEmployee expensesEmployee expenses    

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    

2012 

restated1 

Wages and salaries –3,169 ––––4,342 

Social security and other personnel-related expenses2 –466 ––––889 

Of which non-cash-relevant adjustments of pension fund 51 ––––268 

Share-based payments –290 ––––429 

Total employee costsTotal employee costsTotal employee costsTotal employee costs    ––––3,9253,9253,9253,925    ––––5,660 

      

Average number of fullAverage number of fullAverage number of fullAverage number of full----time equivalentstime equivalentstime equivalentstime equivalents3333    16.816.816.816.8    24.9 

FullFullFullFull----time equivalents time equivalents time equivalents time equivalents at yearat yearat yearat year----endendendend    11.811.811.811.8    23.1 

Total headcount at yearTotal headcount at yearTotal headcount at yearTotal headcount at year----endendendend    14141414    26 

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 

2 Thereof TCHF 16 was expensed for defined contribution plans in North America (2012: TCHF 17). 

3 For the calculation of full-time equivalents, only employees with part-time and full-time permanent working contracts are 
taken into consideration. 

Termination benefitsTermination benefitsTermination benefitsTermination benefits    

In 2013 and 2012, no termination benefits were expensed. 

Pension planPension planPension planPension plan    

In accordance with the Swiss pension fund law “Federal Act on Occupational Old Age, Survivors’ and 

Invalidity Pension Provision” (OPAOPAOPAOPA), all employees of Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG and  

Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG, both in Liestal, Switzerland, have to be affiliated with a col-

lective independent pension fund. These funds provide for retirement benefits, as well as risk bene-

fits (death and disability). The plans qualify as defined benefit plans under IAS 19 and the assets can-

not revert to employer. Contributions to the plans are such that the employee contributes 40% and 

the employer the rest. Contributions are computed as percentage of the salary, depending on age. In 

order to manage these risks, Santhera entered into an agreement with AXA Foundation for occupa-

tional benefits (AXA foundationAXA foundationAXA foundationAXA foundation). The AXA foundation is responsible for the governance of the plan; 

the board is composed of an equal number of representatives from the employers and employees 

chosen from all affiliated companies. AXA foundation has set up investment guidelines, defining in 

particular the strategic allocation with margins. AXA foundation has reinsured its risks (investment 

risk, mortality risk etc) with AXA Life Ltd, Wintherthur (AXAAXAAXAAXA). AXA manages the savings capi-

tal/investments on behalf of AXA foundation. The accumulated saving capital is allocated to each in-

sured individual and consists of annual contributions, saving credits and interest credits. In certain 

situations, additional payments or increased periodic contributions by the employer may become due 

based on the pension plans funded status as measured under Swiss pension rules (OPA). 
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An independent actuary has performed the respective calculations as required by IAS 19: 

Changes in defined benefit obligations  

In CHF thousands 2013201320132013    
2012 

restated1 

Present value of obligation, January 1Present value of obligation, January 1Present value of obligation, January 1Present value of obligation, January 1    7,0487,0487,0487,048    7,131 

Current employer service cost 447 669 

(Gain)/loss on settlement –310 0 

Interest cost 141 178 

Employee contributions 166 176 

Benefits paid / transfer payments –1,180 ––––869 

Insurance premiums –90 ––––121 

Plan settlement –1,247 0 

Remeasurements2 –799 ––––116 

Present value of obligation, December 31Present value of obligation, December 31Present value of obligation, December 31Present value of obligation, December 31    4,1764,1764,1764,176    7,048 

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 

2 Details of remeasurements: 

In CHF thousands 2013201320132013    

2012 

restated
1
 

Actuarial (gain)/loss due to changes in demographic assumptions 0000    221 

Actuarial (gain)/loss due to changes in financial assumptions ––––236236236236    439 

Actuarial (gain)/loss due to experience adjustments ––––563563563563    ––––776 

SubtSubtSubtSubtotalotalotalotal    (gain)/loss(gain)/loss(gain)/loss(gain)/loss    ––––799799799799    ––––116 

(Return)/loss on plan assets (excluding interest income) 26262626    ––––41 

Total remeasurements in other comprehensive income (gain)/lossTotal remeasurements in other comprehensive income (gain)/lossTotal remeasurements in other comprehensive income (gain)/lossTotal remeasurements in other comprehensive income (gain)/loss    ––––773773773773    ––––157 

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 

Changes in plan assets 

In CHF thousands 2013201320132013    

2012 

restated1 

Fair value of assets, January 1Fair value of assets, January 1Fair value of assets, January 1Fair value of assets, January 1    5,2275,2275,2275,227    5,421 

Interest income on assets 108 143 

Employer contributions 221 436 

Employee contributions 166 176 

Benefits paid / transfer payments –1,180 ––––869 

Insurance premiums –90 ––––121 

Plan settlement –1,247 0 

Remeasurements (return/(loss) on plan assets (excluding interest income)) –26 41 

Fair value of assets, December 31Fair value of assets, December 31Fair value of assets, December 31Fair value of assets, December 31    3,1793,1793,1793,179    5,227 

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 
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Net defined benefit asset/(obligation) 

In CHF thousands 2013201320132013    
2012 

restated1 

Present value of obligation, December 31 4,176 7,048 

Fair value of assets, December 31 3,179 5,227 

Net defined asset / (Net defined asset / (Net defined asset / (Net defined asset / (obligationobligationobligationobligation))))    ––––997997997997    ––––1,821 

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 

Asset breakdown 

Assets of the defined benefit plan are not quoted since AXA fully insures them. 
Therefore the entire amount of TCHF 3,179 is treated as an insurance contract and has 
no quoted market price. 

The weighted-average assumptions to determine benefit obligations and defined benefit cost were as 

follows: 

In % 2013201320132013    2012 

Discount rate 2.3 2.0 

Expected future salary increases 1.5 1.5 

Sensitivity analysis for 2013: 

In CHF thousands 

Defined benefit Defined benefit Defined benefit Defined benefit     
obligationobligationobligationobligation        

Gross service Gross service Gross service Gross service 
costcostcostcost    

 Increase 
assump-

tion 

Decrease  
assumption 

Increase  
assumption 

Decrease  
assumption 

Discount rate +/- 0.25% ––––195 180 ––––22 21 

Salary increase +0.25% ––––55 –––– ––––2 –––– 

Live expectancy + 1 year ––––43 –––– ––––4 –––– 

Mortality rate: 

Life expectancy at age 65 2013201320132013    2012 

Male 21.39 21.29 

Female 23.86 23.76 

The expected employer contributions for fiscal year 2014 amount to approximately TCHF 232 (2013: 

TCHF 336). 

No benefit obligations for pensioners were calculated as per December 31, 2013 (2012: none). 

The duration of the plan liabilities calculated is 20.1 years as per December 31, 2013 (2012: 19.1 years). 
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25252525 Financial Income / Expenses Financial Income / Expenses Financial Income / Expenses Financial Income / Expenses     

Financial incomeFinancial incomeFinancial incomeFinancial income    

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Interests on cash and cash equivalents 5 50 

Realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains 200 372 

Settlement finance lease liabilities 1,526 0 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    1,7311,7311,7311,731    422 

Financial expensesFinancial expensesFinancial expensesFinancial expenses    

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Interest expenses –9 0 

Interest expenses for finance lease –12 –125 

Realized and unrealized foreign exchange losses –161 –433 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    ––––182182182182    ––––558 

26262626 Currency Translation DifferencesCurrency Translation DifferencesCurrency Translation DifferencesCurrency Translation Differences    

Currency translation differences derive from currency valuation differences from investments in sub-

sidiaries and their assets and liabilities. The gain of CHF 0.1 million in 2013 is primarily related to the 

valuation of intangible assets denominated in EUR (2012: CHF –0.2 million). 
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27272727 Income TaxesIncome TaxesIncome TaxesIncome Taxes    

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Current income tax income/(expense) 5 ––––18 

Deferred tax income/(expense) 0 ––––139 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    5555    ––––157 

The following is a theoretical reconciliation of the income taxes calculated at the Group’s expected 

effective income tax rate: 

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Result before taxes –5,755 ––––31,288 

Tax income of applicable tax rate of 20%1 1,151 6,258 

Effect of tax rate change 0 0 

Value adjustments on investments and intercompany loans 1,201 33,314 

Unrecognized deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards –2,347 ––––39,729 

Effective tax income/(expense) 5 ––––157 

Effective tax rate 0.1% 0.5% 

1 The tax rate of 20% represents the Group's expected long-term tax rate based on rates applicable in those jurisdictions 
where taxable income should be generated in the future. 

According to currently applicable Swiss tax law, the period to offset tax loss carryforwards against 

taxable profit is limited to seven years. According to currently applicable German tax law, tax loss 

carryforwards can, besides other conditions, be offset against taxable profit for an unlimited period 

but only to an amount of EUR 1.0 million and in addition for 60% of further amounts beyond this 

threshold per annum. 

28282828 Earnings/LossEarnings/LossEarnings/LossEarnings/Loss    per Shareper Shareper Shareper Share    

Basic earnings/loss per share is calculated by dividing the net profit / net loss attributable to equity 

holders by the weighted average number of shares issued and outstanding during the reporting peri-

od, excluding shares held as treasury shares. 

    2013201320132013    2012 restated1 

Net result attributable to equity holders (in CHF) –5,754,752 ––––31,445,093 

Weighted average number of shares issued and outstanding 3,708,260 3,676,874 

Basic and diluted net result per share (in CHF)Basic and diluted net result per share (in CHF)Basic and diluted net result per share (in CHF)Basic and diluted net result per share (in CHF)    ––––1.551.551.551.55    ––––8.55 

1 Some positions have been restated, see note 17 "Adoption of IAS 19R Employee Benefits". 

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, basic and diluted result per share is based on the 

weighted average number of Shares issued and outstanding, and excludes Shares to be issued upon 

the future exercise of employee stock options or warrants, as they would be anti-dilutive. In case 

Santhera shows a profit in the future, the options may have a dilutive effect on the net profit per 

Share and will need to be considered for the purpose of this calculation. 
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29292929 Related Party TransactionsRelated Party TransactionsRelated Party TransactionsRelated Party Transactions    

Board and ExecBoard and ExecBoard and ExecBoard and Executive Management compensationutive Management compensationutive Management compensationutive Management compensation    

Total compensation of Board and Executive Management 

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Short-term benefits: wages and salaries / Board compensation 456 445 

Post-employment benefits (pension fund contributions) 43 58 

Other long-term benefits 0 0 

Termination benefits 0 0 

Share-based payment expenses (fair value according to IFRS 2)1 153 350 

1 Fair values consist of option grants and modifications of existing grants from 2013 and 2012, respectively, as well as option 
grants from earlier years whose vesting periods include the reporting periods. Employee stock options are expensed over 
their vesting periods in accordance with IFRS 2, and the fair values included in above table are derived from the disclosed 
fair values of issued stock options as accounted for in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

Executive Management compensation 

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Wages and salaries, inclusive variable compensation 326 323 

Post-employment benefits (pension fund contributions) 43 35 

Termination benefits 0 0 

Stock option grants (number)1 0 15,000 

1 In 2012, 41,144 options have been modified. 

In 2013, the only remuneration for the Executive Management was paid to Thomas Meier, Chief Execu-

tive Officer (CEOCEOCEOCEO). He received a gross compensation of TCHF 326 and no stock options. In 2012, the 

highest and only remuneration for the Executive Management was paid to Thomas Meier, CEO. He 

received a gross compensation of TCHF 323 and 15,000 stock options (with 41,144 stock options being 

modified). 

Board compensation 

In CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

Compensation fix 130 122 

Post-employment benefits (pension fund contributions) 0 23 

Termination benefits 0 0 

Stock options (number)1 10,500 10,000 

1 In 2012, an additional 23,000 options have been granted as modification of options – besides the 10,000. 

In 2013, the highest compensation to a member of the Board was paid to Martin Gertsch, Chairman of 

the Board. He received a gross compensation of TCHF 45 and 7,000 stock options. In 2012, the highest 

compensation to a member of the Board was paid to Timothy Rink. He received a gross compensation 

of TCHF 45 and 1,000 stock options with 9,000 stock options being modified besides the 1,000). 
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Transactions with members of the Board and Executive Management 

There are no loans outstanding or guarantee commitments granted to members of the Board and 

Executive Management. 

Shareholdings of members of the Board and Executive Management 

The total number of stock options held by the members of the Board amounted to 24,000 as of De-

cember 31, 2013 (2012: 113,595 stock options). By the end of 2013 the members of the Board held 2,030 

Shares (2012: 2,960 Shares). 

The total number of stock options held by the Executive Management amounted to 80,039 as of De-

cember 31, 2013 (2012: 80,039 stock options). As per December 31, 2013, the members of the Executive 

Management held 14,613 Shares (2012: 14,613 Shares). 

The table below sets forth the number of stock options and Shares individually held or controlled by 

members of the Board and the Executive Management: 

Per December 31 

2012012012013333    Total Total Total Total 
number of number of number of number of 

SharesSharesSharesShares    

2012012012013333    Total Total Total Total 
number of number of number of number of 

stock optionsstock optionsstock optionsstock options    

2012 Total 
number of 

Shares 

2012 Total 
number of 

stock options 

BoardBoardBoardBoard              

Martin Gertsch, Chairman 1,230 17,000 1,230 10,000 

Jürg Ambühl 800 7,000 800 6,000 

     

Timothy Rink1 – – 0 10,000 

Klaus Schollmeier2 – – 930 87,595 

     

Executive ManagementExecutive ManagementExecutive ManagementExecutive Management        

Thomas Meier, CEO 14,61314,61314,61314,613    80,03980,03980,03980,039    14,613 80,039 

1 Board member until May 13, 2013 

2 Chairman of the Board until May 13, 2013 

In 2013, 10,737 options were exercised by a former member of the Board (2012: 0 stock options). No 

stock options were exercised by the Executive Management (2012: 0 stock options). 

The table below shows the total number of options granted to the members of the Board in the three 

preceding years and the respective exercise prices (including former members of the Board): 

Year of grant Total number of options Exercise prices in CHF 

2010 6,000 24.45 

2010 2,000 25.00 

2010 4,000 27.85 

2011 1,000 9.40 

2011 1,000 8.55 

2011 1,000 7.90 

2011 2,500 7.36 

2012 8,000 6.34 

2012 1,000 4.53 
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2012 1,000 4.27 

2012 23,0001 4.27 

2013 2,500 4.04 

2013 1,000 3.56 

2013 7,000 1.91 

1 These options represent those which were modified in 2012 – not newly granted. 

The table below shows the total number of stock options granted to the members of the Executive 

Management in the three preceding years and their respective exercise prices (including former mem-

bers of the Executive Management): 

Year of grant Total number of options Exercise prices in CHF 

2009 16,000 44.45 

2009 40,000 28.20 

2010 61,000 9.45 

2011 0 0 

2012 15,000 4.53 

2012 41,1441 4.27 

2013 0 0 

1 These options represent those which were modified in 2012 – not newly granted. 

The detailed disclosures regarding executive remuneration that are required by Swiss law are included 

in the notes to the financial statements of Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG. 

30303030 Risk Management Objectives and PoliciesRisk Management Objectives and PoliciesRisk Management Objectives and PoliciesRisk Management Objectives and Policies    

Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG maintains a Group-wide corporate risk management system 

consisting of the areas corporate governance, financial internal controls and quality control / quality 

assurance. 

In a semiannual bottom-up process, operational corporate risks are identified and their likelihood 

and impact assessed (gross risks). Out of a pool of these identified risks, the Company defines corpo-

rate key risks. By defining and undertaking appropriate measures these corporate key risks are man-

aged accordingly to either reduce or avoid such risk (net risk). The result of this process is a risk report 

which is assessed and approved by the Board generally on an annual basis. The corporate key risks 

are assessed on an ongoing basis by the Executive Management at its regular meetings, additional 

key risks are being discussed and measures identified if required. 

Those risks as identified within the area of accounting and financial reporting as well as related con-

trol processes are further covered by the Company’s Group-wide internal control system. 

Santhera conducts development activities primarily in Switzerland, the EU and the US and is exposed 

to a variety of financial risks, such as, but not limited to, foreign exchange rate risk, credit risk, li-

quidity risk, cash flow and interest rate risk. Part of Santhera’s overall risk management focuses on 

financial risks and the unpredictability of financial markets seeking to minimize potential adverse 

effects on the financial performance of the Group. Special guidelines and policies approved by the 

Board exist for overall risk management, financial internal controls and treasury management and 
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are monitored by the Executive Management and the Board on a regular basis. The risk of foreign 

exchange rate fluctuations on the expenses can partly be managed by entering into foreign exchange 

derivative contracts. In accordance with the relevant treasury guidelines, Santhera only concludes 

contracts with selected high-quality financial institutions of good reputation and is not allowed to 

engage in speculative transactions. In addition, Santhera’s treasury guidelines currently limit the 

Company to engage in money market deposits or similar instruments with a maturity beyond 12 

months. 

Foreign exchange rate riskForeign exchange rate riskForeign exchange rate riskForeign exchange rate risk    

Santhera holds cash amounts in four major currencies CHF, USD, EUR and CAD to cover the majority of 

future expected expenses. In addition, in order to reduce its foreign exchange rate exposure,  

Santhera occasionally enters into derivative currency contracts (forwards, options, structured deriva-

tives) to hedge against additional major foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. Evaluations 

based on market values were performed regularly. Any fair value changes of such currency positions 

are recorded accordingly in the income statement. Santhera’s primary exposure to financial risk is 

due to fluctuation of exchange rates between CHF, USD, EUR and CAD. 

Cash and cash equivalents held in USD, EUR and CAD are expected to cover estimated purchases in 

those currencies until end of 2013. No derivative currency contracts are outstanding as of December 31, 

2013 and 2012. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in USD, EUR and CAD 

exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s result before taxes. There is no 

impact on the Group’s equity. 

 Increase/decrease 
foreign currency rate 

Effect on result before taxes  
in CHF thousands 

USD positionsUSD positionsUSD positionsUSD positions            

2013 +5% 8 

 ––––5% 8 

   

2012 +10% 29 

 ––––5% ––––14 

   

EUR positionsEUR positionsEUR positionsEUR positions            

2013 +15% 20 

 ––––5% ––––10 

   

2012 +5% 99 

 ––––5% ––––99 
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Interest rate riskInterest rate riskInterest rate riskInterest rate risk    

Santhera earns interest income on cash and cash equivalents and its profit and loss may be influ-

enced by changes in market interest rates. Santhera is either holding its cash on deposit/current ac-

counts or investing cash through money market instruments in line with its treasury guidelines to 

follow its financial needs over time. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable change in interest rates, with all 

other variables held constant, of the Group’s result before taxes. There is no impact on the Group’s 

equity. 

As per end of 2013, variances of +/- 50 basis points were calculated, resulting in fluctuations of +/- 

TCHF 25 before tax (end of 2012: +/- 50 basis points resulting in fluctuations of +/- TCHF 61 before tax. 

Credit riskCredit riskCredit riskCredit risk    

Santhera has a certain concentration of credit risk. Short-term investments are invested as cash on 

deposit or in low risk money market funds, i.e. money market accounts with government-backed 

corporate banks, top-tier categorized banks or S&P A-1 rated money market investment instruments 

or similar ratings. No investment or contract with any single counterparty, except cash on deposit 

subject to the criteria above, comprises more than 20% of cash and cash equivalents at the date of 

investment. 

Santhera has policies in place to ensure that sales of products or entered partnerships are made to 

customers or with partners with an appropriate credit history and a commitment to ethical business 

practices. The maximum credit risk exposure is limited to the carrying amount of its financial assets 

including derivatives. 

Liquidity riskLiquidity riskLiquidity riskLiquidity risk    

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Current-

ly, the Company is financed through equity and there is no interest bearing funding through debt 

instruments. Santhera’s treasury calculates on a rolling basis the needs for aligning the current ex-

penses against the need for optimized financial investments. 

Contractual undiscounted cash flows 

Year ended December 31, 
2013 

in CHF thousands 

On  
demand 

Less 
than  

3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5  
years 

After  
5 years 

Total  Book 
value 

Accrued expenses 0 1,036 0 0 0 1,036 1,036 

Trade payables 0 597 0 0 0 597 597 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    0000    1,6331,6331,6331,633    0000    0000    0000    1,6331,6331,6331,633    1,6331,6331,6331,633    
 

Year ended December 31, 2012 
in CHF thousands 

On 
demand 

Less than 
3 months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

After 
5 years Total 

Book 
value 

Accrued expenses 0 2,218 0 0 0 2,218 2,218 

Financial liabilities 0 41 121 648 3,509 4,319 2,207 

Trade payables 0 654 0 0 0 654 654 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    0000    2,9132,9132,9132,913    121121121121    648648648648    3,5093,5093,5093,509    7,1917,1917,1917,191    5,0795,0795,0795,079    
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Categories of financial instrumentsCategories of financial instrumentsCategories of financial instrumentsCategories of financial instruments    

Year ended December 31, 2013 
in CHF thousands 

Book value Loans and receivables Other liabilities at 
amortized cost 

AssetsAssetsAssetsAssets                

Financial assets long-term 85 85 0 

Financial assets short-term 0 0 0 

Trade receivables 1 1 0 

Other receivables 2 2 0 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,044 5,044 0 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    5,1325,1325,1325,132    5,1325,1325,1325,132    0000    

                

LiabilitiesLiabilitiesLiabilitiesLiabilities                

Long- and short-term debt 0 0 0 

Financial liabilities long-term 0 0 0 

Trade payables 597 0 597 

Financial liabilities short-term 0 0 0 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    597597597597    0000    597597597597    

 

Year ended December 31, 2012 
in CHF thousands 

Book value Loans and receivables Other liabilities at  
amortized cost 

AssetsAssetsAssetsAssets                

Financial assets long-term 362 362 0 

Financial assets short-term 0 0 0 

Trade receivables 518 518 0 

Other receivables 8 8 0 

Cash and cash equivalents 12,283 12,283 0 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    13,17113,17113,17113,171    13,17113,17113,17113,171    0000    

                

LiabilitiesLiabilitiesLiabilitiesLiabilities                

Long- and short-term debt 0 0 0 

Financial liabilities long-term 2,171 0 2,171 

Trade payables 654 0 654 

Financial liabilities short-term 36 0 36 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    2,8612,8612,8612,861    0000    2,8612,8612,8612,861    
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Capital managementCapital managementCapital managementCapital management    

The first priority of Santhera's capital management is to provide adequate cash funds to ensure the 

financing of successful development and marketing activities so that future profits can be generated 

by gaining marketing authorization approvals for pharmaceutical products. As a company with cur-

rently one product on a smaller market, the capital management continues to be focused on the cash 

and cash equivalents position and is governed by specific Group treasury guidelines. 

The funds raised in various private financing rounds, the initial public offering in 2006, the private 

placement in 2008, SEDA as well as funds generated through product sales and revenue from licensing 

enabled the group to be adequately financed. However, further financing could be needed for the 

Group to continue as a going concern, see note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”. 

No changes in goals and policies of the treasury management have been made during the past two 

reporting years. 

31313131 Events Events Events Events AAAAfter the Reporting Datefter the Reporting Datefter the Reporting Datefter the Reporting Date    

In January 2014, the ANSM granted a cohort ATU for Raxone® in the treatment of LHON. This temporary 

authorization allows Santhera to sell the Raxone® to hospitals in France and generate first sales with 

the product. 

In January 2014, Santhera granted a total of 351,000 options at an exercise price of CHF 3.89 to mem-

bers of the Board and its employees as retention measure to retain the talent needed for the execu-

tion of the strategy. 

In January 2014, Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG issued additional 355’000 Shares from the 

conditional capital to be used for further draws under the SEDA.  

On February 26, 2014 Santhera raised CHF 1 million in a private placement with IGLU Group. Santhera 

sold 288,317 Shares at a price of CHF 3.47 per share, representing a 8% discount to the lowest volume-

weighted average share price of the last five trading days. The newly issued shares have a lock-up 

period of 100 days. The transaction strengthens Santhera's financial flexibility. 
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial     

StatementsStatementsStatementsStatements    

 

 

 

Basel, April 7, 2014 

 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Santhera Pharmaceu-

ticals Holding AG, which comprise the balance sheet, income statement, statement of comprehensive 

income, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity and notes (pages 7 to 51), for the year 

ended December 31, 2013. 

Board of DirectorsBoard of DirectorsBoard of DirectorsBoard of Directors’’’’    responsibilityresponsibilityresponsibilityresponsibility    

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with IFRS and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility 

includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the prepa-

ration and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material mis-

statement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting 

and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 

the circumstances. 

AuditorAuditorAuditorAuditor’’’’s responsibilitys responsibilitys responsibilitys responsibility    

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, Swiss Auditing Standards and Interna-

tional Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstate-

ment.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-

ments, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the 

internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control 

system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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OpinionOpinionOpinionOpinion    

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, give a 

true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance 

with IFRS and comply with Swiss law. 

Emphasis of matterEmphasis of matterEmphasis of matterEmphasis of matter    

We draw attention to note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates the existence 

of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern as well as note 7 to the financial statements, which describes a material uncertainty 

regarding the valuation of the intangible assets. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of these mat-

ters. 

Report on other legal requirementsReport on other legal requirementsReport on other legal requirementsReport on other legal requirements    

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act 

(AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incom-

patible with our independence. 

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm 

that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

 

Ernst & Young AG 

 

André Schaub Jörg Schmidt 

Licensed audit expert Licensed audit expert 

(Auditor in charge) 
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Statutory Financial StatementsStatutory Financial StatementsStatutory Financial StatementsStatutory Financial Statements    
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Balance SheetBalance SheetBalance SheetBalance Sheet    

    

 

 

 

As of December 31, in CHF thousands    2013201320132013    2012 

AssetsAssetsAssetsAssets      

Investments in Group companies 0 0 

Loans to Group companies 0 642 

Noncurrent assetsNoncurrent assetsNoncurrent assetsNoncurrent assets    0000    642 

      

Treasury shares 0 0 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 33 0 

Other receivables from Group companies    0 8 

Other receivables from third parties 18 31 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,222 8,995 

Current assetsCurrent assetsCurrent assetsCurrent assets    3,2733,2733,2733,273    9,034 

         

Total assetsTotal assetsTotal assetsTotal assets    3,2733,2733,2733,273    9,676 

         

         

Equity and liabilitiesEquity and liabilitiesEquity and liabilitiesEquity and liabilities      

Share capital  3,9343,9343,9343,934    3,677 

Capital reserves and share premium 1,832 1,832 

Reserves for treasury shares 221 177 

Free reserves 3,725 15,492 

Reserves from capital contributions    0 151,046 

Accumulated result –6,582 ––––162,769 

Results carried forward 0 1,531 

Net result for the period –6,582 ––––164,300 

Total equityTotal equityTotal equityTotal equity    3,1303,1303,1303,130    9,455 

         

Trade accounts payable from third parties 53 22 

Other accounts payable from third parties 8 49 

Accrued expenses    82 150 

Total current liabilitiesTotal current liabilitiesTotal current liabilitiesTotal current liabilities 143143143143    221 

Total liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilities 143143143143    221 

         

Total equity and Total equity and Total equity and Total equity and liabilitiesliabilitiesliabilitiesliabilities    3,2733,2733,2733,273    9,676 
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Income StatementIncome StatementIncome StatementIncome Statement    

    

 

 

 

For the year ended December 31, in CHF thousands  2013201320132013    2012 

Revenue from Group companies  1,026 1,053 

Total operating incomeTotal operating incomeTotal operating incomeTotal operating income        1,0261,0261,0261,026    1,053 

       

Other operating income  4 1 

          

General and administrative expenses  –1,113 ––––1,138 

Employee costs  –545 ––––374 

Depreciation and amortization  0 0 

Allowances on investments and loans to Group companies  –6,005 ––––166,568 

Total operating expensesTotal operating expensesTotal operating expensesTotal operating expenses        ––––7,6637,6637,6637,663    ––––166,080 

Operating resultOperating resultOperating resultOperating result        ––––6,6336,6336,6336,633    ––––167,026 

             

Financial income  102 5,445 

Financial expenses  -51 ––––2,719 

Financial resultFinancial resultFinancial resultFinancial result        51515151    2,726 

       

Result before taxesResult before taxesResult before taxesResult before taxes     ––––6,5826,5826,5826,582    ––––164,300 

Taxes expenses      0 

Net resultNet resultNet resultNet result        ––––6,5826,5826,5826,582    ––––164,300 
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Notes to the Statutory Financial StatementsNotes to the Statutory Financial StatementsNotes to the Statutory Financial StatementsNotes to the Statutory Financial Statements    

    

 

 

 

IntroductionIntroductionIntroductionIntroduction    

The financial statements of Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG (CompanyCompanyCompanyCompany) have been prepared in 

accordance with the requirements of the Swiss Code of Obligations. 

Material uncertainties and ability to continue operationsMaterial uncertainties and ability to continue operationsMaterial uncertainties and ability to continue operationsMaterial uncertainties and ability to continue operations    

Material uncertainty remains as to whether Santhera’s current funding is sufficient to support its go-

ing concern for another twelve months which creates significant doubts about its ability to continue 

as a going concern. Therefore the Company depends on further financing to ensure the continuation 

of its operations and to execute its strategy as outlined below. 

In May 2013, the ASM supported the business continuation of Santhera as well as the evaluation of all 

strategic options. This vote was a mandate by the Shareholders to the Board and the Executive Man-

agement to continue to seek marketing approval from the European Medicines Agency (EMAEMAEMAEMA) for  

Raxone® in the treatment of Leber’s Hereditary Optic Neuropathy (LHONLHONLHONLHON), to continue ongoing devel-

opment activities in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMDDMDDMDDMD) and primary progressive Multiple Sclerosis 

(ppMSppMSppMSppMS) and to preserve the Company’s assets. 

During 2013, Santhera collected additional supportive clinical data which will be used in the prepara-

tion of a new Marketing Authorization Application (MAAMAAMAAMAA) in LHON. The application dossier will be sub-

mitted shortly to the EMA. Additionally, several operational and financial restructuring measures were 

implemented in order to reduce expenses and liabilities and to extend the cash reach. In October 

2013, Santhera entered into a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement (SEDASEDASEDASEDA) for up to CHF 10 million 

with Yorkville Advisors Global Master SPV Ltd., New York, United States of America (YA GlobalYA GlobalYA GlobalYA Global), which 

allows the Company to receive additional cash from the issue of Shares from its conditional capital. In 

January 2014, the French National Agency for the Safety of Medicines and Health Products (ANSMANSMANSMANSM) 

granted an Autorisation temporaire d'utilisation dite de cohorte (cohort ATUcohort ATUcohort ATUcohort ATU), for Raxone® in the 

treatment of LHON. This temporary authorization allows Santhera to sell Raxone® to hospitals in 

France and generate first sales with the product. Finally in February 2014, Santhera raised CHF 1 mil-

lion in a private placement with IGLU Group, Zug, Switzerland. 

The ability to continue business operations until the EMA reaches a decision on the MAA filing for  

Raxone® is contingent on the availability of sufficient financial resources. The Board and Management 

continues to seek for possibilities to secure additional financing including through the continued use 

of the SEDA as well as by exploring M&A opportunities and sale and/or licensing of assets. Sharehold-

ers should note that whilst the Board and Management continue to apply best efforts to evaluate 

available options, there can be no guarantee that any transaction can be realized or that such trans-

action would generate sufficient funds to finance further operations. 
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The availability of sufficient funds is decisive for Santhera and its ability to continue operations. Un-

der the above described circumstances, the Board believes in the Company’s chances to be able to 

meet all of its obligations for a further 12 months. Hence, the statutory financial statements have 

been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Investments/SubsidiariesInvestments/SubsidiariesInvestments/SubsidiariesInvestments/Subsidiaries    

Share capital at December 31    2013201320132013    2012 

Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AGSanthera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AGSanthera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AGSanthera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG    
Liestal, Switzerland 

CHF 125,000 125,000 

Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Deutschland) GmbHSanthera Pharmaceuticals (Deutschland) GmbHSanthera Pharmaceuticals (Deutschland) GmbHSanthera Pharmaceuticals (Deutschland) GmbH    
Lörrach, Germany 

EUR 25,000 25,000 

Santhera Santhera Santhera Santhera Pharmaceuticals (USA), Inc.Pharmaceuticals (USA), Inc.Pharmaceuticals (USA), Inc.Pharmaceuticals (USA), Inc.    
Charlestown, US 

USD 1,000 1,000 

Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Canada), Inc.Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Canada), Inc.Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Canada), Inc.Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Canada), Inc.    

Montréal, Canada 

CAD 1,000 1,000 

Oy Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Finland) LtdOy Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Finland) LtdOy Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Finland) LtdOy Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Finland) Ltd    

Helsinki, Finland 

EUR 2,500 2,500 

In 2013 and 2012 all companies are 100% direct subsidiaries of Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG. 

Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG is the primary operational entity while Santhera Pharmaceuti-

cals (Deutschland) GmbH, Santhera Pharmaceuticals (USA), Inc. and Oy Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Fin-

land) Ltd are not employing any personnel. 

Share CapitalShare CapitalShare CapitalShare Capital    

During 2013, the share capital was increased by a total amount of CHF 256,511 to CHF 3,934,049 as of 

December 31, 2013 (2012: CHF 3,677,538), through the exercise of 11,511 employee stock options and the 

issuance of 245,000 Shares for the SEDA using conditional share capital. 

Authorized Share CapitalAuthorized Share CapitalAuthorized Share CapitalAuthorized Share Capital    

The Board of Directors (Board)(Board)(Board)(Board) is authorized, at any time until April 22, 2014, to increase the share 

capital by a maximum amount of CHF 1,800,000 through the issuance of up to 1,800,000 fully paid-in 

registered shares (Shares)(Shares)(Shares)(Shares) with a nominal value of CHF 1 each. An increase in partial amounts shall be 

permitted. The Board shall determine the issue price, the type of payment, the date of issue of new 

Shares, the conditions for the exercise of pre-emptive rights and the beginning date for dividend 

entitlement. 
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Conditional Share CapitalConditional Share CapitalConditional Share CapitalConditional Share Capital    

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had a conditional capital, pursuant to which the share capital 

of the Company may be increased by: 

(i) a maximum amount of CHF 684,414 (2012: CHF 695,925) by issuing a maximum of up to 684,414 

(2012: 695,925) Shares, under the exclusion of shareholders’ pre-emptive rights, for option rights 

being exercised under the Employee Stock Option Plan 2004 (ESOP 2004ESOP 2004ESOP 2004ESOP 2004), the Executive Incentive 

Plan (EIPEIPEIPEIP), the Employee Stock Option Plan 2008 (ESOP 2008ESOP 2008ESOP 2008ESOP 2008), the Employee Stock Option Plan 

2010 (ESOP 2010ESOP 2010ESOP 2010ESOP 2010) and the Board Stock Option Plan (BSOP 2011BSOP 2011BSOP 2011BSOP 2011); and 

(ii) a maximum amount of CHF 355,000 (2012: CHF 600,000) by issuing up to 355,000 (2012: 600,000) 

Shares, through the exercise of warrants/options and/or notes granted in connection with bonds 

or similar debt instruments linked with option and/or conversion rights granted by the Company. 

Standby Equity DistributStandby Equity DistributStandby Equity DistributStandby Equity Distribution Agreemention Agreemention Agreemention Agreement    

In October 2013, Santhera announced that it has entered into a SEDA with YA Global. Under the terms 

of the agreement, YA Global has committed to provide up to CHF 10 million in equity financing during 

a period of three years. The SEDA has been established in order to support the funding Santhera's 

operations. It remains at the sole discretion of Santhera to determine the timing of the funding. 

Treasury SharesTreasury SharesTreasury SharesTreasury Shares    

In connection with the liquidation of Oy Juvantia Pharma, Turku, Finland (JuvantiaJuvantiaJuvantiaJuvantia), acquired in 

2009, Santhera received 8,028 Shares from former Juvantia shareholders. These treasury shares serve 

as pledge from the former owners of Juvantia for compensation of a potential tax claim related to 

pre-acquisition activities of Juvantia and were received in February 2010 at CHF 22 each. At Decem-

ber 31, 2013, the number of shares remained the same at 8,028, whereas the value was adjusted to 

CHF 0 in order to reflect the uncertainties of the future share price development. 

In the context of the SEDA, Santhera issued 245,000 Shares of which 85,070 Shares were used for 

payment of the up-front fee to YA Global. 115,505 Shares were delivered to YA Global for funding the 

draws in 2013, leading to a net amount of 44,425 treasury shares. These are kept by Santhera Pharma-

ceutical (Schweiz) AG to be used for further draws under the SEDA. 

Loans to Group CompaniesLoans to Group CompaniesLoans to Group CompaniesLoans to Group Companies    

Loans to Group companies are fully impaired to CHF 0. They are subordinated loans to the Company’s 

subsidiary Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG and were primarily related to the Group’s research 

and development activities (end of 2013: CHF 172.4 million; end of 2012: 166.4 million). The recovera-

bility of these loans is not ensured. The fair value of Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG and the 

long-term recoverability of these loans depend on the future market success of the developed prod-

ucts, the positive opinion from the EMA on the Company’s MAA for Raxone® in the treatment of LHON, 

and sufficient financing for future successful market launches of products in development. 
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Risk AssessmentRisk AssessmentRisk AssessmentRisk Assessment    

Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG maintains a Group-wide corporate risk management system 

consisting of the areas corporate governance, financial internal controls and quality control / quality 

assurance. 

In an annual bottom-up process, operational corporate risks are identified and their likelihood and 

impact assessed (gross risks). Out of a pool of these identified risks, the Company defines corporate 

key risks. By defining and undertaking appropriate measures, these corporate key risks are managed 

accordingly to either reduce or avoid such risk (net risk). The result of this process is a risk report 

which is assessed and approved by the Board on an annual basis. The corporate key risks are in addi-

tion assessed on an ongoing basis by the Executive Management at its regular meetings, additional 

key risks are being discussed and measures identified if required. 

Those risks as identified within the area of accounting and financial reporting as well as related con-

trol processes are further covered by the Company’s Group-wide internal control system. 

Additional InformationAdditional InformationAdditional InformationAdditional Information    

Property insurance valueProperty insurance valueProperty insurance valueProperty insurance value    

As of December 31, 2013, the property insurance value for buildings and equipment amounts to 

TCHF 250 (2012: TCHF 250). 

Capital loans from Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation and capital loans from Capital loans from Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation and capital loans from Capital loans from Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation and capital loans from Capital loans from Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation and capital loans from 
Finnish National Fund for Research and DevelopmentFinnish National Fund for Research and DevelopmentFinnish National Fund for Research and DevelopmentFinnish National Fund for Research and Development    

In July 2009, Santhera exercised its option to acquire Juvantia. Upon closing of the acquisition, the 

titles of the capital loans granted to Juvantia by the Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Inno-

vation, Helsinki, Finland (TekesTekesTekesTekes), and the Finnish National Fund for Research and Development, Hel-

sinki, Finland (SitraSitraSitraSitra), were transferred to Oy Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Finland) Ltd, Helsinki, Finland. 

As per December 31, 2013, the loans amounted to EUR 6.3 million including capitalized interest (2012: 

EUR 6.1 million). 

Capital loans from Tekes 

The loans from Tekes were granted in order to develop new medicines for movement disorders in 

Parkinson’ disease (fipamezole). Once a first marketing approval for fipamezole in a major country as 

defined by the contract with Tekes would be granted, EUR 2.4 million plus accrued interests would 

become due and payable. Another EUR 2.4 million plus accrued interests would become due and pay-

able one year following such first marketing authorization. As of December 31, 2013, Santhera had no 

ongoing development work with fipamezole in movement disorders. 

Capital loans from Sitra 

The loans from Sitra were granted in order to develop new medicines for movement disorders in Par-

kinson’ disease (fipamezole). Once a first marketing approval for fipamezole in a major country as 

defined by the contract with Sitra would be granted before December 31, 2014, EUR 0.2 million would 

become due and payable. Another EUR 0.2 million would become due and payable one year following 

such first marketing authorization. 
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In case of receiving marketing authorization for fipamezole and, as a consequence, these loans be-

coming due, the Company guarantees these amounts for repayment towards Tekes and Sitra as de-

scribed above. Should no marketing authorization be granted, no payments would become due under 

these capital loans and the respective contingent liabilities would lapse. As of December 31, 2013,  

Santhera had no ongoing development work with fipamezole in movement disorders. 

Guarantee towards Swiss VAT authoritiesGuarantee towards Swiss VAT authoritiesGuarantee towards Swiss VAT authoritiesGuarantee towards Swiss VAT authorities    

The Company is part of the value-added tax group of the Swiss affiliated companies of Santhera 

Pharmaceuticals and is therefore jointly and severally liable to the Swiss federal tax administration 

for their value-added tax liabilities. 

Guarantee towards Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AGGuarantee towards Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AGGuarantee towards Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AGGuarantee towards Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG    

The Company guarantees to pay for the liabilities of its subsidiary Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) 

AG until the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2015. 

Guarantee towards Biovail (now Valeant)Guarantee towards Biovail (now Valeant)Guarantee towards Biovail (now Valeant)Guarantee towards Biovail (now Valeant)    

In August 2009, Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG entered into a collaboration and license 

agreement with Biovail Laboratories International SRL, Montréal, Canada (BiovailBiovailBiovailBiovail). In context with 

this transaction, Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG guarantees an amount of up to USD 30.0 mil-

lion towards Biovail for obligations of Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG under the collaboration 

and license agreement. The agreement with Biovail was terminated effective as of January 18, 2011. 

Significant Shareholders (>3%)Significant Shareholders (>3%)Significant Shareholders (>3%)Significant Shareholders (>3%)    

Pursuant to information from the Company’s share register and disclosures of participations made to 

it with applicable stock exchange regulation, the following shareholders owned 3% or more of the 

Company’s share capital at December 31: 

Shareholder’s name 
2013201320132013    

SharesSharesSharesShares    
2013201320132013    

%%%%    
2012 

Shares 
2012 

% 

YA Global Master SPV Ltd., US1 2,576,334 70.1 n/a n/a 

Ares Life Sciences, Switzerland 545,777 14.8 545,777 14.9 

Ralf Arnold, Switzerland 263,108 7.2 n/a n/a 

Herculis Partners “Aries” Fund, Liechtenstein 133,822 3.6 n/a n/a 

Varuma, Switzerland 131,932 3.6 146,932 4.0 

NGN Capital, Germany and US 115,409 3.1 317,319 8.6 

Heidelberg Innovation Fonds, Germany n/a < 3.0 125,985 3.4 

Baker Brothers Life Sciences, US n/a < 3.0 249,390 6.8 

1 This dislcosure, required by applicable SIX Swiss Exchange (SIXSIXSIXSIX) regulations, is materially misleading as YA Global have en-
tered into a SEDA with Santhera, under which the Company has the right from time to time to sell newly issued Shares to YA 
Global, see note 12 “Share Capital” of the consolidated financial statement. As per the SEDA, YA Global is prohibited to hold 
more than 9.9% of the Company’s shares at any time. 

Significant shareholders can also be directly searched on the SIX website under the following link:  

www.six-swiss-exchange.com/shares/companies/major_shareholders_en.html?fromDate=19980101&issuer=17778 
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Compensations to the Board and the Executive ManagementCompensations to the Board and the Executive ManagementCompensations to the Board and the Executive ManagementCompensations to the Board and the Executive Management    

Disclosure of compensation of members of the Board for the year Disclosure of compensation of members of the Board for the year Disclosure of compensation of members of the Board for the year Disclosure of compensation of members of the Board for the year 2012012012013333    

In CHF 

Cash  
compensation fix 

Social 
security 

Stock  
options3 

Compensation 
total 

Martin Gertsch 45,000 3,690 7,840 56,530 

Jürg Ambühl 32,000 2,624 2,070 36,694 

     

Timothy Rink1 16,913 2,952 2,150 19,767 

Klaus Schollmeier2 36,000 704 3,105 42,057 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    129,913129,913129,913129,913    9,9709,9709,9709,970    15,16515,16515,16515,165    155,048155,048155,048155,048    

1 Board member until May 13, 2013 

2 Chairman of the Board until May 13, 2013 

3 Reflects value of share-based payments in accordance with IFRS 2 at grant, i.e. the value of unvested stock options attribut-
able at grant. The tax value of such stock options is 0 until stock options would be exercised. Such stock option values are 
theoretical values and do not reflect income tax values and do also take into consideration certain vesting provisions. During 
such vesting periods, stock options may lapse subject to certain conditions as defined by the respective stock option plans. 
For information about the underlying stock option plans, see note 19 "Stock Option Plans" in the consolidated financial 
statements. For information about the Company’s compensation procedures, consult the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 77 and 78. 

Option grants were made to Board members in 2013. No other payments, allowances or loans were 

made to the members of the Board in 2013. Stock option grants to members of the Board are subject 

to the Compensation Policy as well as the Board Stock Option Plan (BSOPBSOPBSOPBSOP). 

Disclosure of compensation of members of the Board for the year Disclosure of compensation of members of the Board for the year Disclosure of compensation of members of the Board for the year Disclosure of compensation of members of the Board for the year 2012201220122012    

In CHF 

Cash 
compen-
sation fix 

Car 
leasing 

Termina-
tion com-
pensation 

Social 
security 

Stock 
options2 

Compen-
sation 

total 

Klaus Schollmeier, Chairman1 0 6,125 450,750 101,292 18,270 576,437 

Jürg Ambühl 32,000 0 0 2,624 7,640 42,264 

Martin Gertsch 45,000 0 0 3,690 11,590 60,280 

Timothy Rink 45,103 0 0 2,010 11,820 58,933 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    122,103122,103122,103122,103    6,1256,1256,1256,125    450,750450,750450,750450,750    109,616109,616109,616109,616    49,32049,32049,32049,320    737,914737,914737,914737,914    

1 Klaus Schollmeier received no compensation for him being Chairman of the Board in 2012. All his compensations were paid 
for his function as former Chief Executive Officer and as a consequence represent termination compensation. 

2 Reflects value of share-based payments in accordance with IFRS 2 at grant, i.e. the value of unvested stock options attribut-
able at grant; tax value of such stock options is 0 until stock options would be exercised. Such stock option values are theo-
retical values and do not reflect income tax values and do also take into consideration certain vesting provisions. During 
such vesting periods, stock options may lapse subject to certain conditions as defined by the respective stock option plans. 
For information about the underlying stock option plans, see note 19 "Stock Option Plans" in the consolidated financial 
statements. For information about the Company’s compensation procedures, consult the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 77 and 78. 

Option grants were made to all Board members in 2012, three of them participated also in the modifi-

cation of options in June 2012. No other payments, allowances or loans were made to the members of 

the Board in 2012. Stock option grants to members of the Board are subject to the Compensation Policy 

as well as the BSOP. 
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Disclosure of compensation of members of the Executive Management for the year 2013Disclosure of compensation of members of the Executive Management for the year 2013Disclosure of compensation of members of the Executive Management for the year 2013Disclosure of compensation of members of the Executive Management for the year 2013    

In CHF 

Cash com-
pensation 

fix 

Cash com-
pensation 

variable 
Social 

security 
Stock 

options1 Total 
Number of stock 
options granted 

Thomas Meier, Chief 
Executive Officer 

326,419 0 73,348 0 399,767 0 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    326,419326,419326,419326,419    0000    73,34873,34873,34873,348    0000    399,767399,767399,767399,767    0000    

1 Reflects value of share-based payments in accordance with IFRS 2 at grant, i.e. the value of unvested stock options attribut-
able at grant; tax value of such stock options is 0 until stock options would be exercised. Such stock option values are theo-
retical values and do not reflect income tax values and do also take into consideration certain vesting provisions. During 
such vesting periods, stock options may lapse subject to certain conditions as defined by the respective stock option plans. 
For information about the underlying stock option plans, see note 19 "Stock Option Plans" in the consolidated financial 
statements. For information about the Company’s compensation procedures, consult the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 77 and 78. 

Disclosure of compensation of members of the Executive Management for the year 2012Disclosure of compensation of members of the Executive Management for the year 2012Disclosure of compensation of members of the Executive Management for the year 2012Disclosure of compensation of members of the Executive Management for the year 2012    

In CHF 

Cash com-
pensation 

fix 

Cash 
compen-

sation 
variable 

Termi- 
nation 

compen-
sation  

Social 
security 

Stock 
options2 Total 

Number 
of stock 
options 
granted 

Thomas Meier, Chief 
Executive Officer 

323,187 65,800 0 70,923 79,763 539,673 15,0003 

Former member of 
the Executive Man-
agement1 

0 0 240,394 46,170 0 286,564 0 

TotalTotalTotalTotal    323,187323,187323,187323,187    65,80065,80065,80065,800    240,394240,394240,394240,394    117,093117,093117,093117,093    79,76379,76379,76379,763    826,237826,237826,237826,237    15,00015,00015,00015,000    

1 Contains all termination compensation expenses from the restructuring 2011 of which parts were paid in 2011 and 2012. 

2 Reflects value of share-based payments in accordance with IFRS 2 at grant, i.e. the value of unvested stock options attribut-
able at grant; tax value of such stock options is 0 until stock options would be exercised. Such stock option values are theo-
retical values and do not reflect income tax values and do also take into consideration certain vesting provisions. During 
such vesting periods, stock options may lapse subject to certain conditions as defined by the respective stock option plans. 
For information about the underlying stock option plans, see note 19 "Stock Option Plans" in the consolidated financial 
statements. For information about the Company’s compensation procedures, consult the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 77 and 78. 

3 In addition to these 15,000 options, 41,144 existing options were modified in 2012, see note 19 “Stock Option Plans” in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Compensation to Mr Schollmeier, being Chairman of the Board since October 1, 2011, is disclosed on the 

table “Disclosure of compensation of members of the Board for the year 2012” above. 



Santhera Annual Report 2013 

– 64 – 

Disclosure of Shares and stock options held by members of the Board and Executive Disclosure of Shares and stock options held by members of the Board and Executive Disclosure of Shares and stock options held by members of the Board and Executive Disclosure of Shares and stock options held by members of the Board and Executive     
Management (and their respective related party) as of DecemberManagement (and their respective related party) as of DecemberManagement (and their respective related party) as of DecemberManagement (and their respective related party) as of December    31, 31, 31, 31, 2012012012013333    

 
Number of 

Shares 

Number of 
vested stock 

options  

Number of 
unvested 

stock options 

Total number 
of stock  
options 

Board of Directors     

Martin Gertsch, Chairman 1,230 17,000 7,000 24,000 

Jürg Ambühl 800 7,000 0 7,000 

     

Executive Management     

Thomas Meier, CEO 14,613 65,039 15,000 80,039 

No other payments, allowances or loans were made to either the members of the Board, members of 

the Executive Management or their related parties in 2013. 

Disclosure of Shares and stock options held by members of the Board and Executive Disclosure of Shares and stock options held by members of the Board and Executive Disclosure of Shares and stock options held by members of the Board and Executive Disclosure of Shares and stock options held by members of the Board and Executive     
Management (and their respective related party) as of DeManagement (and their respective related party) as of DeManagement (and their respective related party) as of DeManagement (and their respective related party) as of Decembercembercembercember    31, 31, 31, 31, 2012201220122012    

 
Number of 

Shares 

Number of 
vested stock 

options  

Number of 
unvested 

stock options 

Total number 
of stock  
options 

Board of Directors     

Klaus Schollmeier, Chairman 930 80,595 7,000 87,595 

Jürg Ambühl 800 1,000 5,000 6,000 

Martin Gertsch 1,230 0 10,000 10,000 

Timothy Rink 0 0 10,000 10,000 

     

Executive Management     

Thomas Meier, CEO 14,613 23,895 56,144 80,039 

No other payments, allowances or loans were made to either the members of the Board, members of 

the Executive Management or their related parties in 2012. 

Events Events Events Events AAAAfter the Reporting Datefter the Reporting Datefter the Reporting Datefter the Reporting Date    

In January 2014, Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG issued additional 355’000 Shares from the 

conditional capital to be used for further draws under the SEDA.  

On February 26, 2014, Santhera raised CHF 1 million in a private placement with IGLU Group. Santhera 

sold 288,317 Shares at a price of CHF 3.47 per share, representing a 8% discount to the lowest volume-

weighted average share price of the last five trading days. The newly issued shares have a lock-up 

period of 100 days. The transaction strengthens Santhera's financial flexibility. 
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Proposals of the Board of Directors to the Annual Shareholders’ Proposals of the Board of Directors to the Annual Shareholders’ Proposals of the Board of Directors to the Annual Shareholders’ Proposals of the Board of Directors to the Annual Shareholders’ 

MeeMeeMeeMeettttinginginging        

 

 

 

Proposal of the Board for the Proposal of the Board for the Proposal of the Board for the Proposal of the Board for the rrrresult to be carried esult to be carried esult to be carried esult to be carried fffforward, orward, orward, orward, ssssubject ubject ubject ubject to theto theto theto the    
aaaapproval of the Annual Shareholders’ Meetingpproval of the Annual Shareholders’ Meetingpproval of the Annual Shareholders’ Meetingpproval of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting        

In CHF 2013201320132013    2012201220122012    

Result carried forward 0 1,531,228 

Net result of the year –6,582,326 –164,299,838 

Accumulated result Accumulated result Accumulated result Accumulated result     –6,582,3266,582,3266,582,3266,582,326    –162,768,610162,768,610162,768,610162,768,610    

Offsetting with free reserves from capital contribution 0 151,045,795 

Offsetting with free reserves 0 11,722,815 

Result to be carried forwardResult to be carried forwardResult to be carried forwardResult to be carried forward    ––––6,582,3266,582,3266,582,3266,582,326    0000    

The Board of Directors The Board of Directors The Board of Directors The Board of Directors rrrrequests the equests the equests the equests the aaaapproval of the Annual Shareholders’ pproval of the Annual Shareholders’ pproval of the Annual Shareholders’ pproval of the Annual Shareholders’     
Meeting for the Meeting for the Meeting for the Meeting for the ffffollowing ollowing ollowing ollowing rrrrelease and elease and elease and elease and ttttransfer from ransfer from ransfer from ransfer from ccccapital apital apital apital rrrreserves and eserves and eserves and eserves and sssshare hare hare hare 
ppppremium:remium:remium:remium:    

In CHF  

Capital reserves and share premium at December 31, 2013 1'832'073 

Share premium of capital increase February 27, 2014 711,683 

Capital reserves and share premiumCapital reserves and share premiumCapital reserves and share premiumCapital reserves and share premium    2,543,2,543,2,543,2,543,756756756756    

Transfer from capital reserves and share premium to free reserves –711,683 

Net capital reserves and share premium to free reservesNet capital reserves and share premium to free reservesNet capital reserves and share premium to free reservesNet capital reserves and share premium to free reserves    1,832,0731,832,0731,832,0731,832,073    

No further appropriations to legal reserves are necessary as they already amount to more than the 

required 20% of the share capital. 

Subject to Subject to Subject to Subject to aaaapproval by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the pproval by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the pproval by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the pproval by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the ffffree ree ree ree rrrreserves eserves eserves eserves     
ddddevelop as evelop as evelop as evelop as ffffollows:ollows:ollows:ollows:    

In CHF  

Free reserves at December 31, 2013 3,725,162 

Transfer from capital reserves and share premium to free reserves 711,683 

Free reservesFree reservesFree reservesFree reserves    4,4,4,4,434343436666,,,,845845845845    



Santhera Annual Report 2013 

– 66 – 

Report Report Report Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statementsof the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statementsof the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statementsof the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements    

    

 

 

 

Basel, April 7, 2014 

 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding 

AG, which comprise the balance sheet, income statement and notes (pages 54 t0 65), for the year 

ended December 31, 2013. 

Board of DirectorsBoard of DirectorsBoard of DirectorsBoard of Directors’’’’    responsibilityresponsibilityresponsibilityresponsibility    

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 

with the requirements of Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility 

includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the prepa-

ration of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or er-

ror. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting 

policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

AuditorAuditorAuditorAuditor’’’’s responsibilitys responsibilitys responsibilitys responsibility    

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We con-

ducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require 

that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements 

are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to 

the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are ap-

propriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-

tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OpinionOpinionOpinionOpinion    

In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, comply with Swiss law 

and the company’s articles of incorporation. 
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Emphasis of matterEmphasis of matterEmphasis of matterEmphasis of matter    

We draw attention to note “Material uncertainties and ability to continue operations" of the financial 

statements which indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt 

about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the Company were unable to continue 

as a going concern, its financial statements would need to be prepared on a liquidation basis. 

Report on other legal requirementsReport on other legal requirementsReport on other legal requirementsReport on other legal requirements    

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act 

(AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incom-

patible with our independence. 

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm 

that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial 

statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

 

Ernst & Young AG 

 

André Schaub Jörg Schmidt 

Licensed audit expert Licensed audit expert  

(Auditor in charge) 
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Corporate GovernanceCorporate GovernanceCorporate GovernanceCorporate Governance    
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GeneralGeneralGeneralGeneral    InformationInformationInformationInformation    

The Company’s corporate governance principles are laid out in its articles of incorporation (ArtArtArtArti-i-i-i-

clesclesclescles), the organizational rules (Organizational RulesOrganizational RulesOrganizational RulesOrganizational Rules; Organisationsreglement), by-laws of the 

Company’s executive management (Executive ManagementExecutive ManagementExecutive ManagementExecutive Management) adopted by the Board of Directors 

(BoardBoardBoardBoard) and a comprehensive set of group directives, including a Code of Conduct and insider 

trading rules that require a trading preclearance for the Board and the Company’s officers and 

employees, as well as an internal control system (ICSICSICSICS), and a risk management process (RMRMRMRM). 

The information published below conforms to the Directive Corporate Governance (DCGDCGDCGDCG) of the SIX 

Swiss Exchange (SIXSIXSIXSIX). In order to avoid redundancies, references are inserted to other parts of the 

financial report and links to Santhera’s website www.santhera.com that provide more detailed 

information. 

Group Structure and Shareholders (DCG 1) Group Structure and Shareholders (DCG 1) Group Structure and Shareholders (DCG 1) Group Structure and Shareholders (DCG 1)     

Group structure (DCG 1.1) Group structure (DCG 1.1) Group structure (DCG 1.1) Group structure (DCG 1.1)     

Listed company  

Name Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG  

 (CompanyCompanyCompanyCompany, together with its affiliates, SantheraSantheraSantheraSanthera)  

Domicile Hammerstrasse 49, 4410 Liestal, Switzerland  

Register number CH-270.3.012.442-0  

Listing SIX 

Symbol SANN  

Security ID 2714864  

ISIN CH0027148649  

Market capitalization  CHF 14.6 million (December 30, 2013)  

Website www.santhera.com 

Commercial register  www.hrabl.ch  

Duration of company Not limited 

Subsidiaries See following section as well as note “Investments/Subsidiaries” to the 

statutory financial statements of the Company on page 58. 

Santhera operates through its wholly owned subsidiaries, Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG, 

Liestal, Switzerland (research and development (R&DR&DR&DR&D) of pharmaceutical drugs, administrative func-

tions); Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Canada), Inc., Montréal, Canada (marketing and sales [M&S] of 

pharmaceutical drugs); Santhera Pharmaceuticals (USA), Inc., Charlestown, United States of America 

(USUSUSUS) (administrative); Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Deutschland) GmbH, Lörrach, Germany (regulatory 

and R&D in the EU), and Oy Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Finland) Ltd, Helsinki, Finland (administrative; 

DCG 1.1.3). None of these subsidiaries is listed on a stock exchange (DCG 1.1.2). Their R&D and M&S 

activities are managed by Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG and are performed in Switzerland, 

the EU and the US (DCG 1.1.1). 
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Significant shareholders (DCG 1.2) Significant shareholders (DCG 1.2) Significant shareholders (DCG 1.2) Significant shareholders (DCG 1.2)     

See note “Significant Shareholders” to the statutory financial statements of the Company on page 61. 

CrossCrossCrossCross----shareholdings (DCG 1.3) shareholdings (DCG 1.3) shareholdings (DCG 1.3) shareholdings (DCG 1.3)     

There are no cross-shareholdings. 

Capital Structure (DCG 2) Capital Structure (DCG 2) Capital Structure (DCG 2) Capital Structure (DCG 2)     

Ordinary, conditional and authorized capital (DCG 2.1/2.2) Ordinary, conditional and authorized capital (DCG 2.1/2.2) Ordinary, conditional and authorized capital (DCG 2.1/2.2) Ordinary, conditional and authorized capital (DCG 2.1/2.2)     

The Company has one class of registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 1 each (SharesSharesSharesShares). Pursuant 

to its Articles, as of December 31, 2013, it had the following ordinary, authorized and conditional 

share capital: 

 Capital as per  
commercial register 

Effectively outstanding 
capital 

  

Type of capital Amount  

in CHF2 

As % of  
ordinary 

capital 

Amount  
in CHF 

As % of  
ordinary 

capital 

Expiry Section 
in  

Articles 

Ordinary capital 3,677,538 100.0 3,934,049 100.0  3 

Authorized capital
1
 1,800,000 48.9 1,800,000 45.8 

April 22, 
2014 

3a  

Conditional capital for 
warrants/option rights 
granted in connection 
with debt instru-
ments

2
 600,000 16.3 355,000 9.0 

For conver-
sion rights: 

10 years 
from issue 

date. 
For op-
tions: 7 

years from 
issue date. 

3b I 

Conditional capital for 
ESOP/BSOP/EIP

3
 

695,925 18.9 684,414 17.4  3b II 

1 After the reporting period, on February 27, 2014, the Company raised CHF 1 million in a private placement through the 
issue of 288,317 Shares from authorized capital, reducing the latter to CHF 1,511,683. 

2 In October 2013, YA Global Master (YorkvilleYorkvilleYorkvilleYorkville) and Santhera have entered into a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement 
(SEDASEDASEDASEDA) as further described on page 27 of the consolidated financial statements, under which the Company is entitled to 
sell Shares to Yorkville from time to time within a period of 36 months. In order to be able to deliver Shares to Yorkville, 
the Company has granted its wholly owned and direct subsidiary Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG options to ac-
quire Shares (one share for one option). At December 31, 2013, Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Schweiz) AG had exercised 
245,000 options and transferred title to 200,575 Shares to Yorkville. By January 28, 2014, all remaining 355,000 options 
had been exercised, reducing the Company’s conditional capital for warrants/option rights to zero. 

3 Employee Stock Option Plans (ESOPESOPESOPESOP) 2004, 2008 and 2010; Board Stock Option Plan (BSOPBSOPBSOPBSOP); Executive Incentive Plan (EIPEIPEIPEIP). 
For details pertaining to the ESOP and option and/or conversion rights with regard to debt instruments, see section on 
DCG 2.7. In the reporting period, certain holders of options exercised their rights to receive Shares which were issued from 
the Company’s “Conditional Capital for ESOP.” Until December 31, 2013, 11,511 Shares were newly issued under such pro-
grams and another 1,155 in 2014 until February 26, 2014. While conveying shareholders’ rights upon conversion, these 
Shares have only been registered in the commercial register on February 27, 2014. With regard to the disclosure of partici-
pations in accordance with article 20 of the Swiss Stock Exchange Act, the entry in the commercial register is relevant. 
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For details with regard to terms and conditions of potential share issues under the Company’s author-

ized and conditional share capital, see sections 3a and 3b of the Company’s Articles, which can be 

downloaded from www.santhera.com/corporate-governance, and the section on DCG 2.7 below. 

For details with regard to the Company’s ESOP, BSOPs and EIP, see note 19 “Stock Option Plans” to the 

consolidated financial statements on pages 35 to 38. 

Changes in share capital (DCG 2.3) Changes in share capital (DCG 2.3) Changes in share capital (DCG 2.3) Changes in share capital (DCG 2.3)     

For changes in capital that occurred in 2011 and 2012, see the Company’s Annual Report 2012, which 

can be downloaded from www.santhera.com/reports. For changes that took place in 2013, see notes 

“Share Capital,” “Authorized Share Capital” and “Conditional Share Capital” to the statutory financial 

statements of the Company on pages 58 and 59. 

Shares, participation and dividend right certificates (DCG 2.4/2.5) Shares, participation and dividend right certificates (DCG 2.4/2.5) Shares, participation and dividend right certificates (DCG 2.4/2.5) Shares, participation and dividend right certificates (DCG 2.4/2.5)     

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had one single class of registered Shares with a nominal value 

of CHF 1 each. All Shares were fully paid in and are nonassessable. The Company has not issued any 

participation certificates or any profit-sharing certificates. 

As a consequence of the Swiss Federal Intermediated Securities Act (FISAFISAFISAFISA) that entered into force on 

January 1, 2010, the Company may issue its Shares in the form of uncertificated securities, single cer-

tificates or global certificates. The shareholder has no right to demand the printing and delivery of 

share certificates. However, a registered shareholder may, at any time, request the Company to con-

firm in writing its shareholding as entered into the share register. The transfer of the Shares is effect-

ed via electronic book entry only by the intermediary holding the securities account, usually a bank. 

The transferability of the Shares is not affected by the changes required by FISA. 

Subject to section 5 in the Company’s Articles on share register, transfer restrictions and nominees, 

each Share carries one vote (see section on DCG 2.6) and is entitled to dividends if the shareholders’ 

meeting (Shareholders’ MeetingShareholders’ MeetingShareholders’ MeetingShareholders’ Meeting) resolves in favor of a dividend payment. 

Limitations on transferability and nominee regiLimitations on transferability and nominee regiLimitations on transferability and nominee regiLimitations on transferability and nominee registrations (DCG 2.6) strations (DCG 2.6) strations (DCG 2.6) strations (DCG 2.6)     

The Company’s Shares are freely transferable, provided that the acquirers declare that they ac-

quired the Shares in their own name and for their own account. There is no percentage limitation 

(DCG 2.6.1), and accordingly, the Company did not grant any exception (DCG 2.6.2).  

The Board may register individual nominees (NomineesNomineesNomineesNominees) with the right to vote in the share regis-

ter up to 2% of the share capital as set forth in the commercial register. Shares in excess of 2% of 

the total share capital are entered without voting rights, unless the Nominee discloses the 

names, addresses and number of Shares of persons for whose account it holds such excess 

Shares. Nominees are persons who do not explicitly declare to hold Shares for their own account. 

Groups of persons who are interrelated or otherwise act in concert to circumvent the Nominee 

provisions are treated as a Nominee (DCG 2.6.3). In the year under review, the Company granted 

no exception. 
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The Board delegated the administration of the share register to the Chief Executive Officer (CEOCEOCEOCEO) 

who may cancel registration of shareholders if such registration was based on false information 

and if the CEO has previously heard such shareholder or Nominee. No statutory privileges of limi-

tations on transferability exist (DCG 2.6.4).  

Convertible bonds and warrants/options (DCG 2.7) Convertible bonds and warrants/options (DCG 2.7) Convertible bonds and warrants/options (DCG 2.7) Convertible bonds and warrants/options (DCG 2.7)     

Convertible loans  

Santhera does not have any convertible or exchangeable bonds or loans outstanding.  

Options, warrants  

See the statutory financial statements of the Company on page 59 and note 19 “Stock Option Plans” to 

the consolidated financial statements on pages 35 to 38.  

Board of Directors (DCG 3) Board of Directors (DCG 3) Board of Directors (DCG 3) Board of Directors (DCG 3)     

Board and committee memberships (DCG 3.1/3.2/3.3.2 and 3.4) Board and committee memberships (DCG 3.1/3.2/3.3.2 and 3.4) Board and committee memberships (DCG 3.1/3.2/3.3.2 and 3.4) Board and committee memberships (DCG 3.1/3.2/3.3.2 and 3.4)     

 Year of birth Nationality First elected Elected until Board 

Jürg Ambühl 1949 CH 2009 2014 Member 

Martin Gertsch  1965 CH 2006 2014 Chairman 

Jürg Ambühl  

Jürg Ambühl is a seasoned marketing specialist with a long track record in the pharmaceutical 

industry. From 2003 to 2007, he worked in several senior management positions for the Serono 

group, lastly as senior executive vice president global marketing. In this capacity, he was respon-

sible for worldwide marketing strategies for all of Serono’s products. Prior to that, he served as 

chief executive officer of Metagen Pharmaceuticals, a Berlin-based oncology spin-off of Schering. 

From 2000 to 2001, Dr Ambühl was president of the regional business Europe/International at 

Knoll/BASF Pharmaceuticals when the company was sold to Abbott Laboratories. From 1987 to 

1999, he held several senior management positions within MSD Sharp & Dohme in Germany, in-

cluding general manager with business responsibility for the German market. From 1982 to 1987, 

Mr Ambühl worked for McKinsey and prior to that, from 1978 to 1982, he held several manage-

ment positions within Eli Lilly’s German subsidiary in sales and marketing. He is member of the 

board of directors of Euromedic International BV. Mr Ambühl holds a PhD in chemistry from the 

Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH), Zurich, Switzerland, and an MBA from the INSEAD, 

Fontainebleau, France. 

Martin Gertsch  

Martin Gertsch is an experienced executive and board member in the life science industry. He was 

chief financial officer (CFO) of Acino Holding AG until January 15, 2014. He currently serves as 

chairman of the audit committee on the board of Evolva Holding (SIX: EVE). He is former vice-

president and head of finance EMEA at DePuy Synthes and former CFO and chief operating officer 

of Delenex Therapeutics and ESBATech, two privately held biotech companies. From 2002 to the 

beginning of 2006, he was chief financial officer of Straumann, which he had joined in 1997 as 

head of group controlling and reporting. Between 1986 and 1997, Mr Gertsch was an audit en-

gagement manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers, Basel, Switzerland. He is a Swiss certified fiduci-
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ary and Swiss certified public accountant. Mr Getsch has completed several executive-level devel-

opment programs at IMD (International Institute for Management Development) in Lausanne, 

Switzerland. 

Independence of Board members (DCG 3.1.b and c) Independence of Board members (DCG 3.1.b and c) Independence of Board members (DCG 3.1.b and c) Independence of Board members (DCG 3.1.b and c)     

All Board members are nonexecutive and none has ever been a member of the Executive Man-

agement of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. 

Business connections between Board members and the Company (DCG 3.1.c) Business connections between Board members and the Company (DCG 3.1.c) Business connections between Board members and the Company (DCG 3.1.c) Business connections between Board members and the Company (DCG 3.1.c)     

See note 29 “Related Party Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 47.  

Other activities and vested interests (DCG 3.2) Other activities and vested interests (DCG 3.2) Other activities and vested interests (DCG 3.2) Other activities and vested interests (DCG 3.2)     

Other than described above, none of the members of the Board has any position in governing or 

supervisory bodies of any major organization, institution or foundation under private or public 

law, permanent management or consultancy function for major interest groups, official function 

or political mandate. 

Elections and terms of office (DCG 3.3) Elections and terms of office (DCG 3.3) Elections and terms of office (DCG 3.3) Elections and terms of office (DCG 3.3)     

According to the Company’s Articles, the Board consists of no more than eight members. The term of 

office of a Board member must not exceed three years, whereby a year means the period between 

two ordinary Shareholders’ Meetings. In order to comply with the Minder Initiative implementing 

ordinance, the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation (Minder OrdinanceMinder OrdinanceMinder OrdinanceMinder Ordinance; VegüV), the Company 

will propose to its shareholders to amend the Articles to reduce the term of office for Board members 

to one year. Directors are appointed or removed exclusively by a resolution of the shareholders. For 

the time of the first election and the remaining term of office for the members of the Board see the 

table in the section on DCG 3.1/3.2 and 3.4 above. The terms of the Board members both end at the 

Shareholders’ Meeting 2014. The Board members are elected on an individual basis. So far, the 

Chairman has been elected by the Board. For the Shareholders’ Meeting 2014, the Board will propose 

to the shareholders that the Chairman be elected by the shareholders.  

Organizational structureOrganizational structureOrganizational structureOrganizational structure////areas of responsibility and information flow (DCG 3.4) areas of responsibility and information flow (DCG 3.4) areas of responsibility and information flow (DCG 3.4) areas of responsibility and information flow (DCG 3.4)     

See also the table in the section on DCG 3.1.  

Allocation of tasks within the Board (DCG 3.4.1)  

In accordance with the Organizational Rules of the Company, the Chairman convenes and presides 

over the Board meetings. After consultation with the CEO, the Vice-President Finance & Account-

ing and the General Counsel, who also acts as the secretary of the Board, he decides on agenda 

items and motions. The other Board member may request that items be placed on the agenda. In 

case of urgency, the Chairman may approve transactions and measures on behalf of the full 

Board. The Board also approves the Company’s news releases.  

The Board committees (DCG 3.4.2)  

Currently, Santhera has no separate Board committee. Consisting of two members only, the Board 

allocated all tasks of the Audit Committee (ACACACAC) to the entire Board and formally abolished the AC in 

2013. In view of the Company’s operations, the Board considers the reduction of its size from four 

members to two to be adequate. 
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So as to comply with the Minder Ordinance, the Board will propose at the Shareholders’ Meeting 

2014 to formally set in place a Compensation Committee consisting of the two Board members, of 

which one will be the committee’s chairman.   

Board Board Board Board ----    elections anelections anelections anelections and areas of responsibility (DCG 3.5/3.6) d areas of responsibility (DCG 3.5/3.6) d areas of responsibility (DCG 3.5/3.6) d areas of responsibility (DCG 3.5/3.6)     

Core tasks of the Board 

The Board is entrusted with the ultimate direction of the Company and supervision of the Execu-

tive Management. The Board’s nontransferable and inalienable duties include the duty to (i) ul-

timately manage the Company and issue the necessary directives, (ii) determine the organiza-

tional structure of the Company, (iii) organize the accounting system, financial control (including 

the Company’s ICS, RM as well as financial planning), and (iv) appoint, recall and ultimately su-

pervise the persons entrusted with the management and representation of the Company. The 

nontransferable and inalienable duties also comprise responsibility for preparation of the Annual 

Report and the Shareholders’ Meeting, carrying out shareholders’ resolutions, and notification to 

the judge in case of overindebtedness of the Company. The full Board approves the Company’s 

budget and major contracts if they are not within budget. It also reviews filing strategies before 

regulatory authorities such as the European Medicines Agency (EMAEMAEMAEMA) and the US Food and Drug 

Administration. It reviews and approves merger and acquisitions projects including licensing 

transactions of a material size.  

The Board has delegated the execution of the strategies defined by it and the day-to-day man-

agement of the Company to the CEO who relies on a management team where the main function-

al areas of the Company are represented.  

Work methods of the Board (DCG 3.5.3) Work methods of the Board (DCG 3.5.3) Work methods of the Board (DCG 3.5.3) Work methods of the Board (DCG 3.5.3)     

The adoption of resolutions and elections by the Board require a majority of the votes cast. To 

validly pass a resolution, more than half of the members of the Board must be present at the 

meeting. In case of an impasse, the Chairman has a casting vote. In the period under review, all 

resolutions by the Board were taken unanimously. Meetings may be held by teleconference.  

Audit-related tasks of the Board  

In addition to its other responsibilities, the Board also monitors the integrity of the financial 

statements of the Company, assesses the independent audit firm’s and its representatives’ quali-

fications, the performance of the Company’s internal audit function and independent public ac-

countants, and the compliance of the Company with legal and regulatory requirements. The 

Board reviews the Company’s financial statements and budgets on a quarterly basis, while it re-

views financial plans and liquidity reports on a monthly basis. It also assesses the Company’s ICS 

and is responsible for the Company’s RM, accounting principles and policies as well as tax struc-

tures. The Board communicates with the Company’s external auditors concerning the results of 

their interim audits, audits of the annual and reviews of the interim financial statements and 

assesses important or critical accounting topics with the Executive Management and the external 

auditors. 

Compensation-related tasks of the Board  

The Board takes all decisions in compensation- and nomination-related matters. It approves the 

Company’s stock option plans and grants on a total Company basis and to the CEO on an individ-

ual basis. It approves salary increases, bonus payments and option pools granted to senior man-

agers and employees on an aggregate basis. It also approves promotions of employees who are or 

will become direct reports of a member of the Executive Management. Further, it establishes 
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principles for the selection of candidates for election to the Board and the Executive Manage-

ment, reviews and proposes candidates for membership on the Company’s Board and Executive 

Management, and reviews the Company’s regulations and charter to remain in compliance with 

SIX requirements and Swiss and international corporate best practice standards.  

The Board deliberates over the corporate goals and the amount of incentives to be paid upon 

achievement of the targets as well as employment packages for senior managers and overall stock 

option grants to the employees. In January 2013, the Board approved the corporate scorecard 

that contained the objectives for 2013. These were i) successful cash preservations; ii) securing 

the going concern; iii) a successful appeal against the negative opinion taken by the EMA’s Com-

mittee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMPCHMPCHMPCHMP) on the Company’s Marketing Authorization 

Application (MAAMAAMAAMAA) for Raxone
®
 to treat Leber’s Hereditary Optic Neuropathy (LHONLHONLHONLHON); and iv) the 

achievement of certain milestones in its ongoing clinical programs. With the exception of the 

LHON appeal procedures, all other objectives had essentially been met. In view of the financial 

situation of the Company and in accordance with management’s proposal, the Board resolved not 

to pay any cash bonus. To show its appreciation, the Board approved a general salary increase of 

2%. To retain its employees, the Board granted 351,000 stock options to directors, officers and 

employees as incentive to stay with the Company until after the CHMP’s opinion on a new MAA for 

Raxone
®
 in LHON, which is expected in the first quarter of 2015. The options were granted on 

January 23, 2014, and can be converted 1:1 into Santhera Shares. The exercise price is CHF 3.89 

per option. All such options vest on (i) the earlier of (a) five stock exchange trading days follow-

ing the public announcement of the CHMP opinion on the MAA for LHON and (b) April 30, 2015, 

(ii) but in no case before one year after the grant date. 

Meetings in 2013  

In 2013, the Board held five meetings in person which on average lasted more than two and a 

half hours. In addition, the Board held twelve teleconferences which on average lasted about 

three quarters of an hour. In three instances, the Board resolved by e-mail. In addition to other 

less formal contacts, the CEO briefed the Board on two occasions.   

Information and control instruments visInformation and control instruments visInformation and control instruments visInformation and control instruments vis----àààà----vis the Executive Management (DCG vis the Executive Management (DCG vis the Executive Management (DCG vis the Executive Management (DCG 3.6) 3.6) 3.6) 3.6)     

As a rule, the CEO and the Board’s Secretary, who is also the Company’s General Counsel, partici-

pate in all Board meetings and report to the Board on the current course of business and all sig-

nificant issues and transactions. The Vice-President Finance & Accounting is present when finan-

cial, accounting, reporting, controlling and budgeting topics are discussed. In addition, other 

members of senior management are invited for certain agenda items covering their area of ex-

pertise, for example, to discuss results and progress of clinical studies, submissions to regulatory 

authorities, potential new indications and additional fields of activities, and in- and out-

licensing projects. From time to time, the Board also invites the Company’s auditors and tax ad-

visors to its meetings.  

For the year under review, the Board decided that no formal RM report would have to be pre-

pared as the Company’s risks had been clearly identified by the Executive Management and that 

the Board were regularly briefed on these risks and involved in their management. Among the 

key risks identified were the financial situation of the Company, the regulatory risk in the EU in 

connection with the MAA for Raxone
®
 in LHON and the retention of key personnel. 
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Extraordinary transactions and issues must be reported by the CEO to the Board immediately. The 

CEO is in regular contact with the Board. Each member of the Board is entitled to request and 

receive information on all matters of the Company and has access to the Company’s and the Com-

pany’s subsidiaries’ property, records and personnel.  

Due to its size, Santhera does not have an internal audit function, but parts of this function have 

been allocated to its finance department and the manager of quality assurance.  

Executive Management (DCGExecutive Management (DCGExecutive Management (DCGExecutive Management (DCG    4 and 3.6) 4 and 3.6) 4 and 3.6) 4 and 3.6)     

The Executive Management consists of the CEO only.  

During the Board and Board Committee meetings the CEO reports to the Board as well as whenev-

er required on an ad hoc basis. Members of the Executive Management would be appointed by 

the Board upon proposal by the CEO with the exception of the CEO himself who is appointed upon 

proposal by the Chairman of the Board.  

The CEO is responsible for implementation of the decisions taken by the Board and its commit-

tees. With the support of the management team, he prepares the business strategy and business 

plan for decision by the Board. In accordance with the Group Directive “Competencies & Respon-

sibilities,” the CEO approves material contracts, decides on the Company’s Intellectual Property 

rights and the handling of lawsuits. He also allocates financial, personnel and other resources 

within Santhera and supervises the members of the management team. The management team 

has regular meetings that usually cover the following topics: product revenues, development pro-

grams and clinical studies, regulatory strategies, resource allocation, business development, 

competitive situation, RM and ICS, corporate affairs including important contracts, supply chain 

and information on subsidiaries, financing situation and strategies, internal and external finan-

cial reporting, financial controlling, public and investor relations, human resources, taxes, legal 

and compliance.  

Members of the Executive Management (DCG 4.1) Members of the Executive Management (DCG 4.1) Members of the Executive Management (DCG 4.1) Members of the Executive Management (DCG 4.1)     

Name Year of birth Nationality Position 

Thomas Meier 1962 DE Chief Executive Officer 

Thomas Meier  

Thomas Meier was appointed CEO of Santhera, effective October 1, 2011, after having served sev-

en years as Chief Scientific Officer (CSOCSOCSOCSO) for the Company. Mr Meier was the founder CEO of My-

oContract, a Basel-based research company focused on orphan neuromuscular diseases, which he 

merged in 2004 with Graffinity of Heidelberg, Germany, to form today’s Santhera. In 1999, Mr 

Meier became an independent research group leader and lecturer in the Department of Pharma-

cology and Neurobiology at the University of Basel, Switzerland, where he established MyoCon-

tract as first start-up of the Biozentrum. Mr Meier received his PhD in biology from the University 

of Basel, Switzerland, in 1992 and subsequently joined the University of Colorado Health Sciences 

Center, US. He has a distinguished scientific track record in the field of neuromuscular research. 

Before joining the industry, Mr Meier was awarded the International Research Fellowship Award 

from the US National Institutes of Health and a long-term fellowship from the Human Frontier 

Science Foundation. In 2007, he received the BioValley Basel Award for his outstanding contribu-

tions to the life sciences in the area. 
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Other activities and vested interests (DCG 4.2) Other activities and vested interests (DCG 4.2) Other activities and vested interests (DCG 4.2) Other activities and vested interests (DCG 4.2)     

The CEO does not have any position in governing or supervisory bodies of any major organization, 

institution or foundation under private or public law, permanent management or consultancy 

function for major interest groups, official function or political post.  

Management contracts (DCG 4.3) Management contracts (DCG 4.3) Management contracts (DCG 4.3) Management contracts (DCG 4.3)     

There are no management contracts between the Company and companies not belonging to Santhera. 

Compensation, Shareholdings and Loans (DCG 5) Compensation, Shareholdings and Loans (DCG 5) Compensation, Shareholdings and Loans (DCG 5) Compensation, Shareholdings and Loans (DCG 5)     

Content and method of determining compensation and share ownership programs Content and method of determining compensation and share ownership programs Content and method of determining compensation and share ownership programs Content and method of determining compensation and share ownership programs (DCG 5.1) (DCG 5.1) (DCG 5.1) (DCG 5.1)     

Board compensation 

All members of the Board are compensated by means of a fixed fee payable in cash, consisting of 

CHF 45,000 and CHF 32,000 for the Chairman and the other member, respectively. In addition, 

they are granted stock options: initial onetime stock options at the next possible grant date after 

the time of their first election to the Board (grant dates are at the first day of a calendar quarter), 

under the condition, however, that at such time, they are independent and do not represent the 

interests of an investor. Otherwise, they obtain their initial grant as soon as they no longer rep-

resent such investor interests. The initial onetime stock options vest as follows: 50% on the se-

cond anniversary of the grant date, the next 25% on the third anniversary and the remaining 

options on the fourth anniversary. The Chairman and the other member received 7,000 and 1,000 

options, respectively. In addition to the initial onetime stock options, nonexecutive members of 

the Board are entitled to an annual grant of stock options with a vesting period of one year (see 

below), i.e., the Chairman to 1,500 options and the other member to 1,000. For more detailed 

terms of all stock options, see note 19 “Stock Option Plans” to the consolidated financial state-

ments on pages 35 t0 38. Board members are not entitled to any variable compensation.  

The total remuneration of the members of the Board for 2013 was considerably lower than for 2012 

as a result of the departure of two Board members, the significant decrease of the fixed annual 

compensation of the Chairman (from CHF 96,000 to CHF 45,000) and the discontinuation of the 

payment of separate fees for the Chairman of the AC due to the dissolution of the latter. 

CEO compensation 

The Board reviews and determines the total remuneration paid to the members of Executive 

Management (fix and variable elements), i.e. currently, the CEO as he is the only member of Exec-

utive Management. The retention model introduced in 2010 was deemed no longer applicable as 

its retention power became ineffective due to the low share price. For 2013, the CEO’s salary was 

increased by 1% compared to his 2012 salary.  

By combining short- and long-term incentive elements, the Board believes that the compensa-

tion system is designed in a way that the interests of the CEO are aligned with the interests of the 

Company and its shareholders. The Company’s compensation system does not set any unintended 

enticements or contain any components that could be counterproductive to the objectives of the 

compensation system.  

The employment contracts with the CEO provide for a one year’s termination period. In the very 

specific case of a change of control and related thereto (i) a substantial change of the terms of 

their employment, or (ii) a dismissal without cause, the said agreements provide for a severance 
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payment of a full year’s salary, while no termination period has to be observed. Other than that, 

and with the exception of those set out in the section on DCG 7.2, there are no change of control 

provisions or other severance arrangements. The Board believes that this severance arrangement 

is in compliance with the Minder Ordinance. 

For additional information, see note “Compensations to the Board and the Executive Manage-

ment” to the statutory financial statements on pages 62 t0 64 and note 29 on pages 45 t0 47 

“Related Party Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements. 

Transparency of compensation for, shareholdings of and loans to issuers domiciled abroad Transparency of compensation for, shareholdings of and loans to issuers domiciled abroad Transparency of compensation for, shareholdings of and loans to issuers domiciled abroad Transparency of compensation for, shareholdings of and loans to issuers domiciled abroad     
(DCG 5.2) (DCG 5.2) (DCG 5.2) (DCG 5.2)     

Not applicable, as the Company is domiciled in Switzerland. 

Shareholders’ Participation (DCG 6) Shareholders’ Participation (DCG 6) Shareholders’ Participation (DCG 6) Shareholders’ Participation (DCG 6)     

Voting rights and representation restrictions (DCG 6.1) Voting rights and representation restrictions (DCG 6.1) Voting rights and representation restrictions (DCG 6.1) Voting rights and representation restrictions (DCG 6.1)     

There are no voting rights restrictions, no statutory group clauses and hence no rules on making 

exceptions. As a consequence, there is neither a procedure nor a condition for their cancellation. 

A shareholder may be represented by his legal representative, the corporate proxy, the inde-

pendent proxy, by a depositary or by another shareholder.  

Statutory quora (DCG 6.2) Statutory quora (DCG 6.2) Statutory quora (DCG 6.2) Statutory quora (DCG 6.2)     

There are no statutory quora which differ from the applicable legal provisions.  

Convocation of the Shareholders’ Meeting (DCG 6.3) Convocation of the Shareholders’ Meeting (DCG 6.3) Convocation of the Shareholders’ Meeting (DCG 6.3) Convocation of the Shareholders’ Meeting (DCG 6.3)     

There are no statutory rules on the convocation of the Shareholders’ Meeting that differ from the ap-

plicable legal provisions. 

Agenda rules (DCG 6.4) Agenda rules (DCG 6.4) Agenda rules (DCG 6.4) Agenda rules (DCG 6.4)     

The Board decides on the agenda of the Shareholders’ Meeting. Shareholders with voting rights 

whose combined holdings represent Shares with a nominal value of at least CHF 1 million or 10% of 

the Company’s share capital may, up to 60 days before the date of the meeting, demand that items 

be included in the agenda. Such a request must be in writing and must specify the items and the 

motions to be submitted. 

Registrations in the share register (DCG 6.5) Registrations in the share register (DCG 6.5) Registrations in the share register (DCG 6.5) Registrations in the share register (DCG 6.5)     

Shareholders entered into the share register as shareholders on a specific qualifying day designated 

by the Board (record date), which is usually less than five business days before the Shareholders’ 

Meeting, are entitled to attend such meeting and to exercise their votes.  
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Changes of Control and Defense Measures (DCG 7) Changes of Control and Defense Measures (DCG 7) Changes of Control and Defense Measures (DCG 7) Changes of Control and Defense Measures (DCG 7)     

Duty to make an offer (DCG 7.1) Duty to make an offer (DCG 7.1) Duty to make an offer (DCG 7.1) Duty to make an offer (DCG 7.1)     

At the Shareholders’ Meeting 2013, shareholders approved an “opting out” clause in the Compa-

ny’s Articles by which it completely excluded the obligation of a shareholder to submit a public 

takeover offer for all outstanding Shares if he had acquired 33⅓% of all the Company’s voting 

rights (Art. 53 SESTA in conjunction with Art. 22 para. 3 SESTA). 

Clauses on changes of control (DCG 7.2) Clauses on changes of control (DCG 7.2) Clauses on changes of control (DCG 7.2) Clauses on changes of control (DCG 7.2)     

The ESOP 2004, 2008 and 2010 and the BSOP 2011, under which most options to receive Shares have 

been granted, contain clauses according to which all options granted under these plans vest im-

mediately upon a sale of more than 50% of the Shares.  

The employment contracts with the CEO and another member of senior management contain a 

change of control provision. Please see section on DCG 5 (Compensation, Shareholdings and 

Loans). 

Other than that, as of December 31, 2013, agreements and plans from which members of the 

Board and/or the Executive Management or other members of senior management benefit or may 

benefit contain no clauses on changes of control.  

Auditors (DCG 8) Auditors (DCG 8) Auditors (DCG 8) Auditors (DCG 8)     

Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor (DCG 8.1) Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor (DCG 8.1) Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor (DCG 8.1) Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor (DCG 8.1)     

Ernst & Young, Basel, assumed the existing auditing engagement for Santhera’s predecessor com-

pany MyoContract in 2002. The Shareholders’ Meeting elects the Company’s auditors for a term of 

office of one year. The auditor in charge is André Schaub. He assumed his responsibility in 2013.  

Auditing fees and additional fees (DCG 8.2/8.3) Auditing fees and additional fees (DCG 8.2/8.3) Auditing fees and additional fees (DCG 8.2/8.3) Auditing fees and additional fees (DCG 8.2/8.3)     

The following fees were charged for professional services rendered by Ernst & Young, for the 12-

month period ended December 31:  

In CHF thousands 2013201320132013    2012201220122012    

Audit services 158 309 

Audit-related services 0 20 

Audit services are defined as the standard audit work that needs to be performed each year in 

order to issue an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of Santhera and to issue re-

ports on the local statutory financial statements. It also includes services that can only be provid-

ed by the Group auditor and includes the verification of the implementation of new or revised 

accounting policies and from reporting periods 2007 onwards the audit of the Company’s ICS and 

RM. Audit-related services include those other services provided by auditors but not restricted to 

those that can only be provided by the auditor signing the audit report. They comprise amounts 

for services in relation to general accounting matters. For reasons of good corporate governance, 

Santhera contracted the provision of tax and ICS/RM services to a company other than Ernst & 

Young.  
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Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit (DCG 8.4) Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit (DCG 8.4) Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit (DCG 8.4) Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit (DCG 8.4)     

The Board performs its supervisory and control functions towards the external auditors through 

the AC. In particular, the AC meets with the auditors at the end of an audit or review to discuss in 

depth the audit procedures, any findings made and recommendations proposed. The auditor’s 

reports to the Board are also extensively discussed. The primary objective of the AC is to support 

the Board in monitoring Santhera’s financial planning, reporting and auditing, ICS, RM, account-

ing policies and principles, tax structures and cash flow management.  

Information Policy (DCG 9) Information Policy (DCG 9) Information Policy (DCG 9) Information Policy (DCG 9)     

Santhera reports to its shareholders, employees, business partners and other public stakeholders 

in an open, transparent and timely manner. Equal treatment of all stakeholders is the guiding 

principle behind its partnership-based approach. In doing so, Santhera is able to promote an 

understanding of its objectives, strategy and business activities, and to ensure an increasing de-

gree of awareness about Santhera. The Company has adopted a comprehensive disclosure policy 

to protect Santhera’s interests and assets, to release material information in a timely and con-

trolled manner, to observe the legal requirements and rules and in particular to also distinguish 

competencies and responsibilities of corporate and strategic disclosure and those applicable in 

M&S or R&D. 

The most important information tools are the Shareholders’ Meetings, the Annual and Interim 

Reports, news releases and the website www.santhera.com.  

Investors and other parties interested in subscribing to the Company’s news service may do so by 

registering themselves on www.santhera.com/subscription. For contact details, see reverse side of 

the 2013 Annual Report. 

Corporate events 2014 (see also Corporate events 2014 (see also Corporate events 2014 (see also Corporate events 2014 (see also www.santhera.com/eventswww.santhera.com/eventswww.santhera.com/eventswww.santhera.com/events))))    

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting:  Tuesday, May 20, 2014, in Liestal, Switzerland 
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ForwardForwardForwardForward----Looking StatementsLooking StatementsLooking StatementsLooking Statements    

This Interim Report expressly or implicitly contains certain forward-looking statements concerning 

Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG and its business. Such statements involve certain known and 

unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which could cause the actual results, financial condi-

tion, performance or achievements of Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG to be materially different 

from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking 

statements. There can be no guarantee that any of the development projects described will succeed 

or that any new products or indications will be brought to market. Similarly, there can be no guaran-

tee that Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG or any future product or indication will achieve any 

particular level of revenue. In particular, management’s expectations could be affected by, among 

other things, uncertainties involved in the development of new pharmaceutical products, including 

unexpected clinical trial results; unexpected regulatory actions or delays or government regulation 

generally; the Company’s ability to obtain or maintain patent or other proprietary intellectual proper-

ty protection; competition in general; government, industry, and general public pricing and other 

political pressures. Santhera Pharmaceuticals Holding AG is providing the information in this Interim 

Report as of the date of the publication, and does not undertake any obligation to update any for-

ward-looking statements contained herein as a result of new information, future events or other-

wise. 
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